UC San Diego UC San Diego Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Human Papillomavirus-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer: Understanding Knowledge, Prevention, and Provider Perceptions

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8450g0xs

Author Dougherty, Erin

Publication Date

2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SAN DIEGO

SAN DIEGO STATE UNIVERSITY

Human Papillomavirus-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer: Understanding Knowledge, Prevention, and Provider Perceptions

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in

Public Health (Health Behavior Sciences)

by

Erin L. Dougherty

Committee in charge:

University of California San Diego

Professor David R. Strong Professor Donna Kritz-Silverstein

San Diego State University

Professor Tracy L. Finlayson (Chair) Professor Heather L. Corliss Professor Noe Crespo

Copyright

Erin L. Dougherty, 2021 All rights reserved. The dissertation of Erin L. Dougherty is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically.

Chair

University of California San Diego

San Diego State University

DEDICATION

To my wonderful and supportive husband, Dustin. I could not have done this without you.

EPIGRAPH

To laugh often and much; to win the respect of intelligent people and the affection of children; to earn the appreciation of honest critics and endure the betrayal of false friends; to appreciate beauty; to find the best in others; to leave the world a bit better whether by a healthy child, a garden patch, or a redeemed social condition; to know that one life has breathed easier because you lived. This is to have succeeded.

Ralph Waldo Emerson

Dissertation Approval Page	iii
Dedication	iv
Epigraph	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	. viii
List of Figures	ix
Acknowledgements	X
Vita	. xiii
Abstract of the Dissertation	. xvi
Introduction Human Papillomavirus Oropharyngeal Cancer HPV & Oropharyngeal Cancer Connection Understanding HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer Knowledge Role of HPV Vaccine Role of Medical and Dental Providers in HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer Patient Engagement Aim of Dissertation References	1 1 2 3 4 5 6 9
Chapter 1: Relationship Between Sexual Orientation and Human Papillomavirus- Related Oral Cancer Knowledge and Awareness Introduction Methods Study Design and Setting Study Population Measures Statistical Analysis Results Sample Characteristics HPV as a Cause of Oral Cancer and Awareness Cycle 1 Sub-Analysis.	15 21 21 21 21 21 22 24 24 24 24
Discussion Limitations Strengths Future Research	32 34 35 35

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Conclusion	
References	38
Chapter 2: Factors Associated with Young Adults' Human Papillomavirus (HPV)	
Vaccine Initiation in a Federally Qualified Health Center	
Background	46
Methods	
Study Design & Setting	
Study Population	
Measures	
Statistical Analysis	51
Results	
Sample Characteristics	
Modeling of Predisposing +Enabling+ Need Factors	
Discussion	60
Strengths/Limitations	61
Implications for Practice, Policy, and Research	62
Conclusion	64
References	65
Chapter 2: Dentel and Medical Providers' Attitudes about Discussing Human	
Dapillomovirus Balated Oronhorungeal Concer with Detionts	69
Introduction	
Mathada	
Setting & Darticipante	12
Data Collection	12
Magguras	12
Attitudes	73
Subjective Norms	
Perceived Rehavioral Control	
Statistical Analysis	
Resulte	75
Discussion	70
References	
Discussion	
HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer Awareness	
HPV Prevention	
HPV-related Oropharyngeal Cancer Patient/Provider Engagement	90
Strengths/Limitations	91
Future Directions	
Conclusions	96
References	97

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Demographic Characteristics of Health Information National Trends Survey 5, Cycles 1-3; Respondents by Sex and Sexual Orientation
Table 1.2. Unadjusted and Adjusted Logistic Regression Models of Human Papillomavirus-Related Awareness and Knowledge by Sex, based on Sexual Orientation ^a ; Health Information National Trends Survey 5, Cycles 1-3
Table 1.3. Adjusted Logistic Regression Model of Human Papillomavirus Awarenessand Human Papillomavirus-Oral Cancer Knowledge by Sex (Health InformationNational Trends Survey, Cycles 1-3)
Table 1.4. Adjusted Logistic Regression Model of Human Papillomavirus-RelatedKnowledge, by Sex (Health Information National Trends Survey 5, Cycle 1)30
Table 2.1. Demographic Characteristics of Patients by Sex at Birth and HumanPapillomavirus Vaccine (HPV) Status; Results of Bivariate Analysis53
Table 2.2. Predisposing, Enabling, and Need Factors Associated with HumanPapillomavirus Vaccine Initiation among Individuals Assigned Male Sex at Birth^ 56
Table 2.3. Predisposing, Enabling, and Need Factors Associated with Human Papillomavirus Vaccine Initiation among Individuals Assigned Female Sex at Birth [^] 58
Table 3.1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants by Provider Type
Table 3.2. Bivariate Associations Between Medical and Dental Providers within each Theoretical Construct
Table 3.3. Hierarchal Linear Regression Model within each Theoretical Construct

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I.1. Head and Neck Cancer Diagram.	1
Figure 2.1. Andersen Behavioral Model for Human Papillomavirus Vaccine Initiation in a	
Federally Qualified Health Center.	48

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I have been very fortunate for the mentorship I have received through the doctoral program. First and foremost, I would not have pursued a doctorate without the mentorship of Dr. Gregory LaChance, DDS. I will be forever grateful for the support and encouragement he provided. He was the hardest working, most dedicated oral health professional I ever met. His commitment to dental public health was inspiring. Throughout his battle with ALS he continued to provide encouragement and while we lost him far too soon, his legacy and passion for oral health continues in the countless lives he inspired. Thank you.

Thank you, Dr. Tracy Finlayson, as my doctoral chair you provided constant support throughout the program. Thank you for sharing your passion of oral health. Your constant motivation to better understand oral health and impacts on overall health kept me motivated during the most difficult parts of the doctoral journey.

Thank you to my entire doctoral committee, Dr. Donna Kritz-Silverstein, Dr. David Strong, Dr. Heather Corliss, and Dr. Noe Crespo for your continued support throughout the doctoral program. Despite your very busy schedules, you all made time for me and provided invaluable mentorship, thank you!

Thank you, Dr. Sudha Nagalingam for your support. As a medical director at a partnering health center, you helped guide the development of two research projects, both of which had to be overhauled due to the COVID-19 pandemic. During the most stressful times, you helped me develop new ideas and adapt them to pandemic times. Thank you for your time and expertise that you shared with me.

Х

Thank you, Tara Radke. Working full time while completing a dissertation was not easy, but it was possible with your leadership. Thank you for creating an environment that promotes work/life balance, always checking in, and providing guidance.

Thank you to El Rio Health and San Ysidro Health. Without the partnership of these two health centers, I would not have been able to complete my doctoral work. Thank you, Dr. Wai-Yin Chan and Linda Salgin for assisting me in getting approvals in place and your support throughout the project.

Most importantly, thank you to my family. Thank you, Mom and Dad, for always believing in me and supporting my academic pursuits. Thank you both for the many crosscountry flights to help take care of Mary so I could complete my doctoral work. Thank you to my sister, Megan for your continued support and encouragement. You're always able to show me the lighter side of life and I'll be forever grateful for the perspective you provide. Thank you to my husband, Dustin. I've spent most of our marriage in the JDP and you've supported me the entire time. You are the only reason I was able to complete the program. Thank you to my daughter, Mary. You'll forever be the best part of our lives; your father and I love you more than you'll ever know. Thank you for your smiles, laughter, and love you've brought into our lives.

Chapter 1, in full, is a reprint of the material as it appears in LGBT Health. Dougherty, Erin L., Corliss, Heather L., Kritz-Silverstein, Donna, Strong, David R., Crespo, Noe C., and Finlayson, Tracy L. (August 2, 2020) doi: https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2021.0146. The dissertation/thesis author was the primary investigator and author of this paper. Chapter 2 is currently being prepared for submission for publication. Co-authors include Dr. Tracy Finlayson, Dr. Heather Corliss, Dr. Noe Crespo, Dr. Donna Kritz-Silverstein, Dr. David Strong, and Dr. Sudha Nagalingam. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this material.

Chapter 3 is currently being prepared for submission for publication. Co-authors include Dr. Tracy Finlayson, Dr. Heather Corliss, Dr. Noe Crespo, Dr. Donna Kritz-Silverstein, and Dr. David Strong. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this material.

VITA

EDUCATION

2022	Doctor of Philosophy in Public Health University of California San Diego / San Diego State University
2014	Master of Public Health, Health Behavior Health Promotion University of Arizona
2010	Bachelor of Arts in Child Psychology and Spanish. University of Minnesota, Twin Cities

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

2017-2019 Institute for Behavioral and Community Health San Diego State University Research Foundation *Research Assistant III/Graduate Student*

- Conducted quality assurance checks on data collected in the field
- Assisted in grant writing & reporting- focus on NIH Mechanisms
- Conducted in-depth interviews with research participants in San Diego County
- Led a systematic literature review assessing the relationship caregiver social support and child oral health status
- Partnered with local Federally Qualified Health Centers to analyze electronic health record data from research participants
- 2009 Carlson Child Development Lab University of Minnesota, Twin Cities *Research Assistant*
 - Research focus on executive function and control in 3–5-year-old children
 - Coordinated scheduling for subjects and researchers
 - Data entry and coding of subject encounters

PUBLICATIONS

***Dougherty, E.**, Gupta, A., Finlayson, T.L., Lin, S., Morales-Cascaes, A., Ayala, G.X. (2018) Factors associated with Hispanic children's dental utilization in Imperial County: CA-CORD project. *Journal of the California Dental Association*. 46(7) 429-437.

*Invited Submission for Special Issue on Student Research

Finlayson, T.L., Asgari, P., **Dougherty, E.**, Tadese, B., Stamm, N., Nunez-Alvarez, A. (2018) Exploring child, caregiver, and family factors associated with child dental utilization among a community-based sample of Mexican migrant families in California. *Community Dental Health* (35) 1–6.

Dougherty, E.L., Corliss, H.L., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Strong, D.R., Crespo, N.C., Finlayson, T.L. (2022) Relationship between sexual orientation and human papillomavirus-related oral cancer knowledge and awareness. *LGBT Health* doi: https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2021.0146

Manuscripts in Progress:

Dougherty, E.L., Corliss, H.L., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Strong, D.R., Crespo, N.C., Nagalingam, S., Finlayson, T.L. (In Preparation) Factors associated with young adults' human papillomavirus vaccine initiation in a Federally Qualified Health Center.

Dougherty, E.L., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Corliss, H.L., Strong, D.R., Crespo, N.C., Finlayson, T.L. (In Preparation) HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer: Attitudes and perceptions regarding patient engagement among FQHC dental and medical providers.

RESEARCH PRESENTATIONS

Dougherty, E. & Finlayson, T.L. (2017). Literature Review: Does caregiver social support affect children's oral health? San Diego State University- Student Research Symposium

Summary: Social support has not been measured in a systematic way in dental public health research and mixed study findings indicate the need for continued research in the field.

Dougherty, E., Reinschmidt, K. and Roe, D. (2014). Impact of preventive dentistry on oral health outcomes for youth in Tucson, AZ. University of Arizona- MPH Internship Conference

Summary: Mixed methods retrospective analysis examining the influence of nutritional counseling, fluoride varnish treatment, and oral hygiene instruction on caries experience, primarily for Latino youth.

Dougherty, E., Asgari, P., Stamm, N., Finlayson, T.L. (2018) Factors Associated with Flossing Behavior among Mexican Migrants in California (Accepted: APHA- Oral Health Section; poster presentation 11/2018)

*Finlayson, T.L. & **Dougherty, E.L**. (2022) Role of Dental Providers in HPV and Oropharyngeal Cancer Prevention. American Association for Dental, Oral, and Craniofacial Research.

*Finlayson, T.L. & **Dougherty, E.L**. (2022) Role of Dental Providers in HPV Vaccination and Oropharyngeal Cancer Prevention. National Oral Health Conference.

*Data collected and prepared by Erin Dougherty, presented by Dr. Tracy Finlayson

TEACHING & MENTORSHIP

2017	 Teaching Assistant, San Diego State University Course: PH 666 Health Promotion Program Planning and Assessment Role: Independently delivered four lectures for 1st and 2nd year MPH students on the following topics: Public Health Promotion Programs, Objective & Subjective Social Assessment, Qualitative Methods, and Logic Models Professor: Eric R. Walsh-Buhi, MPH, PhD
2016-17	Teaching Assistant, San Diego State University Course: PH 353 Human Sexuality & Disease Role: Independently managed online blackboard system for over 150 students and completed grading for exams, assignments, and essays.
	Professor: Eric R. Walsh-Buhi, MPH, PhD
2016	Site Preceptor, El Rio Community Health Center Student: Sho Taniguchi, MPH (Epidemiology) Title: The association of glycated hemoglobin levels and dental treatment in type 2 diabetic patients: a retrospective cohort study
2016	 Site Preceptor, El Rio Community Health Center Student: April Olson, MPH (Epidemiology) Title: Pediatric Integrated Health Home Program: Access to care and dental caries. Prevalence in 1-12-year-old children
2016	University of Arizona- Global Public Health, Guest Lecturer Title: <i>Role of Oral Health in Global Public Health</i> Topics covered: Influence of oral health on overall health conducting oral health needs assessments in high vs. low-income countries, and policy issues that impact oral health and access to care

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Human Papillomavirus-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer: Understanding Knowledge, Vaccine Initiation and Provider Perceptions

by

Erin L. Dougherty

Doctor of Philosophy in Public Health (Health Behavior Sciences)

University of California San Diego, 2022 San Diego State University, 2022

Professor Tracy L. Finlayson, Chair

Background: Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection in the United States, with nearly 80% of the population infected at some point in their lifetime. HPV is the cause of approximately 70% of oropharyngeal cancers (OPC). **Methods**: Chapter 1 utilized data from the Health Information National Trends Survey 5, cycles 1-3; logistic regression analyses examined differences in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge between sexual minorities and their heterosexual counterparts. Chapter 2 utilized electronic health record data of patients without prior history of HPV vaccination. Logistic regression modeling, guided by the Andersen Behavioral Model, examined associations between predisposing, enabling, and need factors with HPV vaccine initiation. Chapter 3 utilized survey data from medical and dental providers that assessed attitudes regarding HPV-related OPC patient engagement. Guided by the Theory of Planned Behavior, HPVrelated OPC responses were compared between medical and dental providers using chisquare tests and linear regression analyses.

Results: In Chapter 1, HPV-related oral cancer knowledge overall was low and there were no significant differences in knowledge for sexual minority men or women compared to heterosexual counterparts. In Chapter 2, HPV vaccine initiation rates overall, were relatively low (20%). For males, minority sexual orientation (OR:1.75; 95% CI:1.20-2.55) and HIV+ status (OR:2.63; 95% CI:1.16-5.97) were associated with greater odds of HPV vaccine initiation; as age increased, odds of HPV vaccine initiation decreased (OR:0.74; 95% CI:0.66-0.84). For females, non-White race (OR:1.26; 95% CI:1.04-1.53), having a nurse practitioner/physician assistant as a provider (OR:1.33; 95% CI:1.08-1.65), and more frequent utilization (OR:1.54; 95% CI:1.31-1.80) were associated with greater odds of HPV vaccine initiation. In Chapter 3, regression analysis indicated dental providers had higher levels of agreement related to perceived behavioral control (greater confidence/feeling adequately trained to engage patients) compared to medical providers (p<0.001). **Conclusion:** Findings showed HPV-related OPC knowledge and HPV vaccine initiation were low and providers reported lack of adequate training/confidence in HPV-related OPC patient engagement. Action should be taken to increase HPV-related OPC knowledge for vulnerable populations, promote HPV vaccination while considering behavioral risk profiles, and provide continuing education opportunities for providers to improve confidence regarding HPV-related OPC patient engagement.

INTRODUCTION

Human Papillomavirus

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection (STI) in the United States (US), with nearly 80% of the population infected at some point in their lifetime.^{1,2} HPV infections do not usually present with any symptoms and are easily passed between sexual partners.³ There are more than 200 strains of HPV, of which, 14 are classified as high risk, with the remainder, categorized as low risk.³ While the immune system typically clears HPV infections, lingering high risk strains can cause anal, cervical, oropharyngeal, penile, vaginal, and vulvar cancers.³

Oropharyngeal Cancer

Oropharyngeal cancer is a type of head and neck cancer. Specifically, oropharyngeal cancer occurs on the back one third of the tongue, soft palate, tonsils, and throat (see Figure I.1).⁴ Early symptoms are often mild and the location makes it difficult to diagnose.^{4,5}



Figure I.1. Head and Neck Cancer Diagram. Note: Image copied directly from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention⁴

According to the National Cancer Institute, there will be an estimated 54,000 new cases of oropharyngeal cancer resulting in 11,230 deaths in the US during 2022.⁶ Between 2001-2017, oropharyngeal cancer incidence increased 2.7% among men and 0.5% among women in the US.⁷ The five-year survival of oropharyngeal cancer from 2012-2018 was 68 percent.⁶

HPV & Oropharyngeal Cancer Connection

HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer is the most common HPV-related cancer^{4,5,8} and approximately 70% of oropharyngeal cancers are caused by HPV.³ HPV-16 is an oncogenic strain of HPV and is the leading cause of oropharyngeal cancer.^{9,10} Historically, oral and oropharyngeal cancers were attributed to tobacco and alcohol use among older individuals; currently, those at highest risk are White, non-smoking, males between the ages of 35-55 years.⁹ Risk factors for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer center primarily around number of sexual partners; risk increases with greater number of sexual partners for both genital and oral HPV infection.⁹ Additionally, individuals with a suppressed immune system are at greater risk for developing HPV-related cancers.⁹ The presence of oral HPV infection is also associated with alcohol use and cigarette use; with heavy cigarette use related to worse survival outcomes for individuals with HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer.^{11–15}

HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer is rapidly on the rise, with a 225% increase in incidence between 1988-2004.¹⁶ However, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force does not currently recommend population-based screenings and there are no approved screening guidelines or tools to detect HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer.^{17–19} Furthermore, there is a lack of understanding regarding population-level knowledge, prevention, and patient/provider engagement of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer.

Understanding HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer Knowledge

The field of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer research is growing, however, there remains a need to understand HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge among health-disparate populations. This is especially important for sexual minority populations who may face an increased risk of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer but have been historically underrepresented or excluded from research. Additionally, sexual minority populations face social stigma, discrimination and encounter many healthcare barriers, including lower utilization and fewer cancer screenings compared to their heterosexual counterparts.^{20–23}

Previous studies have reported that sexual minority women perceived their risk of contracting HPV as relatively low and only six percent knew that HPV could be passed between women.^{24,25} However, research has found that sexual minority women had a higher prevalence of oral HPV^{26,27} and were more likely to receive an oropharyngeal cancer diagnosis compared to their heterosexual counterparts.²⁸ Specific to men, studies have showed that sexual minority men in the US were more aware and had a higher prevalence of HPV and related diseases compared to their heterosexual counterparts.^{29,30} One study found that most men who have sex with men (MSM) had HPV present in their anal cavity and MSM who have human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) had higher rates of HPV associated cancer compared to their HIV negative counterparts.³¹ The long-term use of immunosuppressive medications for individuals with HIV is a risk factor for developing HPV-related cancers; the incidence in HPV-related head and neck cancers among those with HIV is three times higher compared to the general population in the US.^{32,33}

Research shows that sexual minority women and men present different risk profiles and levels of awareness of HPV. As the rates of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer increase rapidly there is a need to explore awareness among sexual minority groups; given the distinct

experiences among men and women, awareness must be examined separately based on sex. Improved understanding can help inform future educational campaigns focused on increasing HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge.

Role of HPV Vaccine

The HPV vaccine prevents HPV-related cancers and recent estimates suggest that 80% of males and females would need to be vaccinated to eliminate certain cancer-causing types of HPV.^{34,35} While the HPV vaccine is approved by the U.S. Food & Drug Administration and has been in use for over a decade,³⁶ it was not until 2020 that the vaccine was indicated in the prevention of oropharyngeal and other head and neck cancers.^{37,38}

HPV vaccination is approved for individuals aged 9-45 years, with the greatest effectiveness in prevention observed if administered prior to any HPV exposure.^{38–41} The HPV vaccine is routinely recommended during adolescence, however, vaccination rates in the US in 2020 were only 54.5% for those 13-15 years old.⁴² With relatively low vaccination rates among adolescents, there is a need for catch up vaccination for those 18-26 years old.

Among adults in the US, HPV vaccination rates are lower among Hispanics and the HPV-related cancer burden is highest in low-income communities.^{43,44} Existing literature predominantly focuses on adolescent HPV vaccine uptake and there is a need to explore HPV vaccination among ethnic minority adults, especially within lower income communities. Additionally, it is important that studies reach beyond fixed individual factors associated with HPV vaccination (i.e., sex at birth, race, ethnicity, etc.) and examine factors/health behaviors that may increase an individual's susceptibility to HPV infection and potential development of cancer. Improved understanding of factors associated with HPV vaccination can help inform targeted vaccine campaigns, with a special focus on those at highest risk for HPV and related diseases.

Role of Medical and Dental Providers in HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer Patient Engagement

Given the rising rate of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer, professional medical and dental associations support patient engagement around HPV and related diseases.⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷ However, research findings suggest that medical and dental providers report hesitancy and knowledge gaps regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer. Specifically, dental providers have reported they are hesitant to engage patients in discussions related to HPV and lack comfort and knowledge regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement.^{48,49} Among medical providers, findings suggest gaps in knowledge and screening abilities regarding HPV and related oropharyngeal cancer.^{50–52}

The lack of comfort, confidence, and ability to engage patients in these important discussions is alarming because primary care medical and dental providers are likely the first providers consulted if a patient notices subtle, but concerning changes in the head and neck region, which may be early signs of HPV progressing into oropharyngeal cancer.⁵³ Early detection is linked to less invasive treatment and improved outcomes and survival of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer.¹⁸

Recent systematic reviews on the topic have noted the need for theory-driven research to examine provider perceptions of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement and the importance of confident and knowledgeable general practice providers to recognize early signs and symptoms.^{48,53} Furthermore, the Oral Cancer Foundation has called for more inclusive provider studies. Studies should include physicians and dentists but also dental hygienists and advance practice medical providers.⁵⁴

It is important to understand how medical and dental providers view their role in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement because each plays a unique role in

patient care. There is a lack of understanding patient comfort levels and preferences regarding which type of provider patients prefer to discuss HPV and related oropharyngeal cancer. Therefore, it is crucial to understand how different general practice providers perceive their role, so they are poised to address patient questions and concerns while promoting the prevention of HPV. Using a theory-driven research design, public health professionals can begin to understand what shapes provider intentions and subsequent HPVrelated oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement.

Aim of Dissertation

The overall aim of this dissertation was to explore HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge among vulnerable populations, investigate factors associated with HPV vaccine initiation, and understand how medical and dental providers perceive their role in HPVrelated oropharyngeal patient engagement.

Chapter 1 of this dissertation utilized data from the publicly available dataset, Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 5, Cycles 1-3. Since 2003, HINTS has been administered by the National Cancer Institute to collect information about 'knowledge of, attitudes toward, and use of cancer- and health-related information' from a nationally representative sample.⁵⁵ As described by the National Cancer Institute, HINTS sampling relies on a two-stage design; the first of which uses a sample of residential addresses and the second a single adult (per household) selected to participate.^{56–58} The HINTS 5, Cycles 1-3 data were collected between January 2017-April 2019.^{56–58} Cycles 1 and 2 were collected via paper survey and Cycle 3 offered options for either paper survey or web survey completion.^{56–58} A total of 12,227 participants completed a survey in HINTS 5, Cycle 1-3 and 10,859 respondents were included in the dissertation analysis.^{56–58} These robust and nationally representative datasets provided an opportunity to explore HPV-related

oropharyngeal cancer knowledge. Chapter 1 contributed to the literature by focusing on sexual minority populations, often excluded and/or underrepresented in research. Specifically, this analysis examined the relation between sexual orientation and awareness of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer, general HPV awareness, and HPV knowledge in a sexstratified analysis using three merged HINTS datasets. Findings from Chapter 1 will help inform educational campaigns aimed at increasing HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge.

Chapter 2 of this dissertation utilized HPV vaccination data from El Rio Health, a large Federally Qualified Health Center located in Tucson, Arizona. El Rio Health serves a predominantly Hispanic/Latinx community in Southern Arizona and delivered healthcare to over 113,000 patients in 2020.⁵⁹ The analysis focused on HPV vaccine initiation for individuals 18-26 years old who were not previously vaccinated during adolescence. The analytic sample consisted of 1,645 individuals aged 18-26 years old who have an established health home and received care at El Rio Health between January 2018-December 2019. Chapter 2 was guided by the Andersen Behavioral Model and aimed to examine factors associated with HPV vaccine initiation. Findings from Chapter 2 will help clinicians and public health professionals identify groups of individuals who may be missed for HPV vaccine initiation and vulnerable to contracting HPV.

Chapter 3 of this dissertation relied on primary data collection at two large Federally Qualified Health Centers, El Rio Health (located in Tucson, AZ) and a large health center located in San Diego, CA. Guided by the Theory of Planned Behavior, the dissertation author developed the survey based on prior published surveys and medical and dental provider input. The purpose of the study was to understand how medical and dental providers

viewed their role in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement. Medical providers included physicians, nurses, nurse practitioners, and physician assistants; dental providers included dentists and registered dental hygienists. A total of 575 providers were invited via email to complete a one-time survey and 156 providers completed the survey. Findings from Chapter 3 will help health centers determine how medical and dental care teams perceive their role in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement and identify opportunities for collaboration between medical and dental teams.

In conclusion, this dissertation contributes to the literature focused on HPV and related oropharyngeal cancer in three distinct ways. Chapter 1 quantifies the overall awareness of HPV-related oropharyngeal and examines differences in knowledge and awareness between sexual minorities and heterosexuals; chapter 2 highlights factors associated with HPV vaccine initiation among vulnerable populations, which is crucial in the prevention of HPV and potential oropharyngeal cancers; chapter 3 demonstrates the differences between medical and dental providers regarding adequate training and confidence to engage patients in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer discussions.

References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. At a glance: sexually transmitted infections (STIs) are very common and costly to the nation's health and economy. Updated January 25, 2021. Accessed August 2, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/std/statistics/prevalence-2020-at-a-glance.htm
- Chesson H, Dunne E, Hariri S, Markowitz L. The estimated lifetime probability of acquiring human papillomavirus in the United States. *Sex Transm Dis*. 2014;41(11):660-664. doi:10.1097/OLQ.00000000000193
- 3. National Cancer Institute. HPV and cancer. Updated September 12, 2022. Accessed June 24, 2022. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/risk/infectious-agents/hpv-and-cancer
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Head and neck cancers. Accessed May 12, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/headneck/index.htm
- 5. American Cancer Society. What are oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers? Accessed May 12, 2019. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/oral-cavity-and-oropharyngealcancer/about/what-is-oral-cavity-cancer.html
- 6. National Cancer Institute. Cancer stat facts: oral cavity and pharynx cancer. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Accessed April 13, 2019. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/oralcav.html
- Damgacioglu H, Sonawane K, Zhu Y, et al. Oropharyngeal cancer incidence and mortality trends in all 50 states in the US, 2001-2017. *JAMA Otolaryngol Neck Surg*. 2022;148(2):155-165. doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2021.3567
- Van Dyne EA, Henley SJ, Saraiya M, Thomas CC, Markowitz LE, Benard VB. Trends in human papillomavirus-associated cancers- United States, 1999-2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67(33):918-924. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6733a2
- 9. The Oral Cancer Foundation. HPV/oral cancer facts. Accessed August 3, 2022. https://oralcancerfoundation.org/understanding/hpv/hpv-oral-cancer-facts/
- Sathish N, Wang X, Yuan Y. Human papillomavirus (HPV)-associated oral cancer and treatment strategies. *J Dent Res.* 2014;93(7):29S-36S. doi:10.1177/0022034514527969
- 11. Sinha P, Logan HL, Mendenhall WM. Human papillomavirus, smoking, and head and neck cancer. *Am J Otolaryngol Head Neck Med Surg*. 2012;33(1):130-136. doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2011.02.001

- 12. Sonawane Deshmukh K, Suk R, Chaio EY, et al. Differences in prevalence between sexes and concordance with genital human papillomavirus infection, NHANES 2011 to 2014. *Ann Intern Med.* 2017;167(10):714-724. doi:10.7326/M17-1363
- 13. Chaturvedi AK, Graubard BI, Broutian T, et al. NHANES 2009-2012 findings: association of sexual behaviors with higher prevalence of oral oncogenic human papillomavirus infections in U.S. men. *Cancer Res.* 2015;75(12):2468-2477. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2843
- 14. Chen SY, Massa S, Mazul AL, et al. The association of smoking and outcomes in HPV-positive oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review. *Am J Otolaryngol Head Neck Med Surg*. 2020;41(5):102592. doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102592
- 15. Cleveland Clinic. Oropharyngeal human papillomavirus infection. Updated July 11, 2022. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/15010-oropharyngeal-human-papilloma-virus-hpv-infection
- Chaturvedi AK, Engels EA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Human papillomavirus and rising oropharyngeal cancer incidence in the United States. *J Clin Oncol*. 2011;29(32):4294-4301. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.4596
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Oral cancer: screening. Accessed February 25, 2018. https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ UpdateSummaryFinal/oral-cancer-screening1
- 18. Day AT, Fakhry C, Tiro JA, Dahlstrom KR, Sturgis EM. Considerations in human papillomavirus–associated oropharyngeal cancer screening: a review. *JAMA Otolaryngol Neck Surg.* 2020;146(7):656-664. doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2019.4811
- 19. Kim KY, Lewis JS Jr, Chen Z. Current status of clinical testing for human papillomavirus in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Pathol Clin Res*. 2018;4(4):213-226. doi:10.1002/cjp2.111
- 20. Institute of Medicine. *The Health of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender People: Building a Foundation for Better Understanding*. National Academies Press; 2011. https://doi.org/10.17226/13128
- 21. Herek GM. Sexual stigma and sexual prejudice in the United States: a conceptual framework. In: Hope DA, ed. *Contemporary perspectices on lesbian, gay, and bisexual identites*. Springer; 2009:65-111. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-09556-1_4
- 22. Valanis BG, Bowen DJ, Bassford T, Whitlock E, Charney P, Carter RA. Sexual orientation and health: comparisons in the women's health initiative sample. *Arch Fam Med.* 2009;9(9):843-853. doi:10.1001/archfami.9.9.843

- McRee AL, Katz ML, Paskett ED, Reiter PL. HPV vaccination among lesbian and bisexual women: findings from a national survey of young adults. *Vaccine*. 2014;32(37):4736-4742. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.001
- 24. Polek C, Hardie T. Lesbian women and knowledge about human papillomavirus. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 2010;37(3):E191-E197. doi:10.1188/10.onf.e191-e197
- 25. Power J, Mcnair R, Carr S. Absent sexual scripts: lesbian and bisexual women's knowledge, attitudes and action regarding safer sex and sexual health information. *Cult Health Sex.* 2009;11(1):67-81. doi:10.1080/13691050802541674
- Cab-Sánchez BG, Hernández-Solís SE, Rueda-Gordillo F, Conde-Ferráez L, Gómez-Carballo JG, González-Losa MDR. Epidemiology of oral HPV infection in young healthy individuals. *Rev Chilena Infectología*. 2017;34(6):557-562. doi:10.4067/S0716-10182017000600557
- 27. Wierzbicka M, Klussmann JP, San Giorgi MR, Wuerdemann N, Dikkers FG. Oral and laryngeal HPV infection: incidence, prevalence and risk factors, with special regard to concurrent infection in head, neck and genitals. *Vaccine*. 2021;39(17):2344-2350. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.047
- 28. Saunders CL, Meads C, Abel GA, Lyratzopoulos G. Associations between sexual orientation and overall and site-specific diagnosis of cancer: evidence from two national patient surveys in England. *J Clin Oncol.* 2017;35(32):3654-3661. doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.72.5465
- 29. Brewer NT, Ng TW, McRee AL, Reiter PL. Men's beliefs about HPV-related disease. *J Behav Med*. 2010;33(4):274-281. doi:10.1007/s10865-010-9251-2
- 30. Gilbert P, Brewer NT, Reiter PL, Ng TW, Smith JS. HPV vaccine acceptability in heterosexual, gay, and bisexual men. *Am J Mens Health*. 2011;5(4):297-305. doi:10.1177/1557988310372802
- Machalek DA, Poynten M, Jin F, et al. Anal human papillomavirus infection and associated neoplastic lesions in men who have sex with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(5):487-500. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70080-3
- 32. Wieland U, Kreuter A, Pfister H. Human papillomavirus and immunosuppression. In: Ramírez-Fort MK, Khan F, Rady PL, Tyring SK, eds. *Human Papillomavirus: Bench to Bedside: Current Problems in Dermatology*. Vol 45. Karger; 2014:154-165. https://doi.org/10.1159/000357907
- 33. Beachler DC, Abraham AG, Silverberg MJ, et al. Incidence and risk factors of HPVrelated and HPV-unrelated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in HIV-infected individuals. *Oral Oncol.* 2014;50(12):1169-1176. doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.09.011

- St. Laurent J, Luckett R, Feldman S. HPV vaccination and the effects on rates of HPV-related cancers. *Curr Probl Cancer*. 2018;42(5):493-506. doi:10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2018.06.004
- 35. Brisson M, Bénard É, Drolet M, et al. Population-level impact, herd immunity, and elimination after human papillomavirus vaccination: a systematic review and metaanalysis of predictions from transmission-dynamic models. *Lancet Public Heal*. 2016;1(1):e8-e17. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(16)30001-9
- 36. Daley EM, Vamos CA, Thompson EL, et al. The feminization of HPV: how science, politics, economics and gender norms shaped U.S. HPV vaccine implementation. *Papillomavirus Res.* 2017;3:142-148. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2017.04.004
- 37. U.S. Food & Drug Administration. Vaccines: Gardasil 9. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/vaccines/gardasil-9
- U.S. Food & Drug Administration. Human papillomavirus vaccine. Updated January 31, 2018. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-bloodbiologics/human-papillomavirus-vaccine
- 39. Meites E, Szilagyi PG, Chesson HW, Unger ER, Romero JR, Markowitz LE. Human papillomavirus vaccination for adults: updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *Am J Transplant*. 2019;19(11):3202-3206. doi:10.1111/ajt.15633
- 40. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Evidence to recommendations for HPV vaccination of adults, ages 27 through 45 years. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Updated August 16, 2019. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/recs/grade/hpv-adults-etr.html
- 41. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HPV vaccination recommendations. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/hpv/hcp/recommendations.html
- 42. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Increase the proportion of adolescents who get recommended doses of the HPV vaccine IID-08. Healthy People 2030. Accessed October 3, 2022. https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/vaccination/increase-proportion-adolescents-who-get-recommended-doses-hpv-vaccine-iid-08/data#tab=data-chart
- 43. Boersma P, Black LI. Human papillomavirus vaccination among adults aged 18-26, 2013-2018. *NCHS Data Brief.* 2020;(354):1-8.
- 44. Lin Y-Y, Damgacioglu H, Suk R, et al. Trends in the incidence of human papillomavirus-associated cancers by county-level income and smoking prevalence in the United States, 2000-2018. *JNCI Cancer Spectr*. 2022;6(2):10-13. doi:10.1093/jncics/pkac004

- 45. American Dental Association. Cancer (head and neck). Updated September 30, 2022. Accessed October 3, 2022. https://www.ada.org/resources/research/science-and-research-institute/oral-health-topics/cancer-head-and-neck
- 46. American Medical Association House of Delegates. Addressing gaps in patient and provider knowledge to increase HPV vaccine uptake and prevent HPV-associated oropharyngeal cancer. Accessed June 24, 2022. https://www.ama-assn.org/system/files/n21-408.pdf
- 47. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Policy on human papilloma virus vaccinations. In: *The Reference Manual of Pediatric Dentistry*. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry; 2021:106-107. https://www.aapd.org/media/Policies_Guidelines/P_HPV_Vaccinations.pdf
- 48. Walker KK, Jackson RD, Sommariva S, Neelamegam M, Desch J. USA dental health providers' role in HPV vaccine communication and HPV-OPC protection: a systematic review. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2019;15(7-8):1863-1869. doi:10.1080/21645515.2018.1558690
- 49. Kline N, Vamos C, Thompson E, et al. Are dental providers the next line of HPVrelated prevention? Providers' perceived role and needs. *Papillomavirus Res*. 2018;5:104-108. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2018.03.002
- 50. Canto MT, Horowitz AM, Drury TF, Goodman HS. Maryland family physicians' knowledge, opinions and practices about oral cancer. *Oral Oncol.* 2002;38(5):416-424. doi:10.1016/S1368-8375(01)00080-X
- 51. Patton LL, Ashe TE, Elter JR, Southerland JH, Strauss RP. Adequacy of training in oral cancer prevention and screening as self-assessed by physicians, nurse practitioners, and dental health professionals. *Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology*. 2006;102(6):758-764. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.10.072
- 52. Mehta V, Holmes S, Master A, Leblanc B, Caldito LG, Bocchini JJ. Knowledge of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer and use of human papillomavirus vaccines by pediatricians in Louisiana. *J La State Med Soc.* 2017;169(2):37-42.
- 53. Parsel SM, Barton BM, Beatty S, Friedlander PL. Knowledge gaps among patients and providers in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2020;162(5):612-621. doi:10.1177/0194599820908596
- 54. The Oral Cancer Foundation. Early detection, diagnosis and staging. Accessed August 6, 2022. https://oralcancerfoundation.org/cdc/early-detection-diagnosis-staging/
- 55. National Cancer Institute. It starts by asking the right questions. Accessed August 6, 2022. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Hints_Factsheet.pdf

- 56. Westat. Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): Cycle 3 Methodology Report. National Cancer Institute; 2019. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Instruments/HINTS5_Cycle3_MethodologyReport.pdf
- 57. Westat. *Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): Cycle 2 Methodology Report.* National Cancer Institute; 2018. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/ methodologyreports/HINTS5_Cycle_2_Methodology_Report.pdf
- 58. Westat. *Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): Cycle 1 Methodology Report.* National Cancer Institute; 2017. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/ methodologyreports/HINTS5_Cycle_2_Methodology_Report.pdf
- 59. El Rio Health. El Rio Health: about El Rio. Accessed January 23, 2022. www.elrio.org

CHAPTER 1: RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SEXUAL ORIENTATION AND HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS-RELATED ORAL CANCER KNOWLEDGE AND AWARENESS

Erin L. Dougherty, MPH, Heather L. Corliss, MPH, PhD, Donna Kritz-Silverstein, PhD, David R. Strong, PhD, Noe C. Crespo, MS, MPH, PhD, and Tracy L. Finlayson, PhD

LGBT Health, August 2, 2022

Abstract

Purpose: Human Papillomavirus (HPV)-related oral cancers are increasing, and lesbian, gay, bisexual, and other people with a minority sexual orientation may be disproportionately impacted. This study examined the relationship between sexual orientation and HPV-related oral cancer knowledge.

Methods: Data from 10,859 adult participants in the 2017-2019 Health Information National Trends Survey 5, cycles 1-3, were obtained. The three datasets were merged, and weighted multiple imputation (n=15) was applied to address missingness. Weighted logistic regression analyses examined differences in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge between sexual minority versus heterosexual participants by sex, after adjustment for race, ethnicity, age, education, income, insurance, regular medical provider, and smoking status.

Results: In this weighted sample, age ranged from 18-101 years (mean=56.3 years); 42% were males, 5.2% sexual minority men/women, and 94.8% heterosexual/straight. Overall, only 19% of respondents were aware HPV can cause oral cancer. After controlling for sociodemographic factors, there were no significant differences in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge for sexual minority men (adjusted odds ratio (AOR): 1.10; 95% confidence interval (CI): 0.86-1.42) or women (AOR: 0.98; 95% CI: 0.76-1.26) compared to those who were heterosexual/straight.

Conclusion: Overall, knowledge of HPV-related oral cancer was low, regardless of sexual orientation. There were no differences in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge between sexual minority men or women compared to their heterosexual counterparts. Educational programs are needed to increase awareness of the HPV/oral cancer link. Further research on differences in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge and attitudes by sexual orientation and the intersection of other demographic factors is warranted.

Introduction

Oropharyngeal cancer has surpassed cervical cancer as the most common human papillomavirus (HPV)-related cancer in the United States (U.S.).^{1–3} There were 18,917 cases of oropharyngeal cancer in 2015, an increase of 2.7% per year in men and 0.8% per year in women from 1999-2015.¹ Historically, oral and oropharyngeal cancers were attributed to tobacco and alcohol use, with higher prevalence in older populations.^{4,5} Currently, approximately 70% of oropharyngeal cancers are caused by HPV.⁶ HPV is the most common sexually transmitted infection in the U.S., with 80% expected to be infected with HPV in their lifetime.^{5,7}

Human papillomavirus is a group of 200+ viruses, of which, approximately 11 are classified as oncogenic.^{5,7–10} Specifically, oncogenic HPV-16 is the leading cause of oropharyngeal cancer.^{5,11} Risk factors for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer include having numerous sexual partners, engaging in oral sex, and having a sexual encounter with a partner with numerous partners.⁵ Research also suggests tobacco use is an additional risk factor for developing oropharyngeal cancer when HPV is present in the oral cavity.¹² Analyses from the National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey (2011-2014) reported that oral HPV infection was associated with increased¹³ and current¹⁴ cigarette use, and number of lifetime sexual partners.^{13,14} Additionally, a recent systematic review found heavy cigarette smoking was related to worse survival outcomes for individuals with HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer.¹⁵

Although oropharyngeal cancer is the most common HPV-related cancer, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force has no recommendations for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer screening.¹⁶ A recent review concluded screening is 'not currently justified' because methods that currently exist are not sufficiently robust.^{17,18} Without guidelines or sufficiently

sensitive/specific screening tests for early detection, identification of HPV-related oral cancers can often rely on providers/patients noticing changes in the oral cavity.^{5,17} The lack of screening guidelines and diagnostic tools highlight the importance of understanding population-level knowledge/awareness regarding HPV-related oral cancers.

Despite a 225% increase in incidence between 1988 and 2004,¹⁹ comprehensive understanding of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer is lacking, especially within health disparate-populations, such as those with a minority sexual orientation. Sexual minority populations are historically underrepresented in research, due in part to the lack of sexual orientation data collection.²⁰ In 2011, the National Academy of Medicine called for research to capture sexual orientation data and demographics in an effort to improve the health of sexual minority populations.²¹ Now, national surveys, including the Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS), collect information on sexual orientation, supporting the study of health-related experiences of sexual minority persons.

Sexual minority persons face social stigma and discrimination that may negatively impact their health.²² Research suggests they have lower health care utilization, encounter more barriers and discrimination when accessing health care, get fewer cancer screenings, and lack social support compared to heterosexual persons.^{21,23,24} Additionally, sexual minority individuals are more likely than heterosexual individuals to use tobacco,^{25–29} a known risk factor for oral HPV.

Previous studies have examined the sexual minority population's knowledge and perceptions about HPV. In one U.S. study, 30% of lesbian, bisexual, or transgender women did not know/believe HPV could be sexually transmitted between women, and 30% were unaware of the HPV/cancer association.³⁰ Similarly, an Australian study found non-
heterosexual women perceived their risk of acquiring HPV as relatively low; only 6% believed HPV could be sexually transmitted between women.³¹ Qualitative follow-up found a low perceived risk of HPV acquisition, which the authors attributed to dominant heterosexual scripts, which do not always include behaviors of non-heterosexual women.³¹

Furthermore, a study conducted in England found lesbian and bisexual women were more likely to have received an oropharyngeal cancer diagnosis than their heterosexual counterparts.³² Additionally, a small study in Mexico found that women who have sex with women (WSW) had a higher prevalence of oral HPV compared to women who reported having sex exclusively with men.^{33,34} Finally, a U.S. study found performing cunnilingus was associated with the presence of oral HPV.³⁵ This underscores the need to explore how individuals who engage in cunnilingus understand the HPV-oral cancer relation and ensure they are aware of oral-genital HPV acquisition and associated cancer risks, especially given a higher risk of HPV transmission between oral/vaginal contact compared to oral/penile.³⁴

HPV also has negative health consequences for men, including oral, penile, and anal cancers.^{36,37} Compared to heterosexual men, gay and bisexual men have a higher prevalence of HPV and related disease.³⁸ A systematic review found most men who have sex with men (MSM) had HPV in the anal canal, and MSM who were positive for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) had higher rates of anal HPV infection and cancer than their HIV-negative counterparts.³⁹ Research shows long-term immunosuppression, often experienced by individuals with HIV, is a risk factor for HPV-related cancers.⁴⁰

In an analysis examining data from 17 studies in the North American AIDS Cohort Collaboration on Research and Design, incidence of HPV-related head and neck cancers were more than 3 times higher in people living with HIV compared to the U.S. general

population.⁴¹ In a U.S. based study, gay and bisexual men had higher levels of HPV awareness compared to heterosexual men and regardless of sexual orientation only 23% knew HPV could cause oral cancer.³⁸ In a probability-based U.S. sample of men, Gilbert et al. (2011) found that gay and bisexual men were more aware of HPV compared to heterosexual men (79% vs. 62%), and more willing to receive the HPV vaccine (73% vs. 37%), respectively, and also reporting a higher level of perceived worry about HPV-related disease.⁴²

Due to low perceived risk, research suggests women with minority sexual orientation may be less aware of HPV,³¹ whereas men with minority sexual orientation may be more aware of HPV than their respective heterosexual counterparts.^{38,42} This supports the need to examine disparities and experiences among men and women separately. Given the disproportionate use of tobacco among those with minority sexual orientation, the established connection between tobacco use and oral HPV infection, the differences in HPV knowledge and perceptions among sexual minority persons compared to heterosexual persons, and the sharp increased incidence of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer, there is a need to understand the association between sexual orientation and HPV-related oral cancer knowledge.

The purpose of this analysis is to fill the knowledge gap regarding the relationship between sexual orientation and awareness of the association between HPV and oral cancer. Using data from a nationally representative sample, it was hypothesized there would be a significant difference in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge and HPV awareness/knowledge based on sexual orientation, such that sexual minority men would be significantly more knowledgeable and aware, whereas sexual minority women would be significantly less knowledgeable and aware compared to their same-sex heterosexual counterparts.

Methods

Study Design and Setting

This study was an analysis of Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS) 5, Cycles 1-3 data; each cycle was self-administered, cross-sectional survey with a two-stage sampling strategy design informed by a database of addresses.^{43–46} Data were collected for Cycle 1 between January 25-May 5, 2017,⁴⁴ Cycle 2 between January 26-May 2, 2018,⁴⁵ and Cycle 3 between January 22-April 30, 2019.⁴⁶ Paper surveys were used in all three cycles and Cycle 3 also offered two web-based options for survey completion. HINTS received IRB approval from the Westat IRB. As determined by San Diego State University, this analysis was exempt from IRB review because the data used were publicly available and de-identified with no way of linking responses to respondents.

Study Population

A total of 12,227 unique participants were randomly selected and completed one of the HINTS 5 surveys in 2017-2019.^{43–46} The analytic sample included participants who responded to the 'self-gender' and 'sexual orientation' items, for an analytic sample of 10,859. This method allowed for multiple imputation across variables, with the exception of the independent (sexual orientation) and stratification (sex) variables.

Measures

HPV-related oral cancer knowledge was assessed with the question: "*Do you think HPV can cause oral cancer*?" ('yes', 'no', 'not sure'). Data were analyzed as 'yes' vs. 'no'/'not sure,' with 'yes' indicating greater knowledge. HPV awareness was assessed through a single item: "*Have you ever heard of HPV? HPV stands for Human Papillomavirus. It is not HIV, HSV, or herpes*" ('yes' vs. 'no'). Responding 'yes' indicated awareness. HPV knowledge was assessed in HINTS 5; Cycle 1 only, by two items. Item 1:

"Do you think that HPV is a sexually transmitted disease (STD)?" ('yes', 'no', 'not sure'). Data were analyzed as 'yes' vs. 'no'/'not sure', with 'yes' indicating greater knowledge. Item 2: "Do you think HPV requires medical treatment or will it usually go away on its own without treatment?" Data were analyzed as collected with 'will usually go away on its own' indicative of greater HPV knowledge.

Sexual orientation was assessed as: 'heterosexual, or straight'; 'homosexual, or gay or lesbian'; 'bisexual'; 'something else'. Due to the sample size, sexual orientation data was collapsed and analyzed as a dichotomous variable, heterosexual vs. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual (LGB) and 'something else' [Sexual Minority]. The additional demographic characteristics assessed included: sex (defined as 'self-gender', men vs. women), age (18-34 years; 35-49 years; 50-69 years; 70+ years), insurance (insured vs. uninsured), regular medical provider (yes vs. no), education ('high school or less' vs. 'greater than high school'), ethnicity ('Not Hispanic' vs. 'Hispanic/Latino), race (White, Black, Asian/Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, and American Indian/Alaskan Native), income (<\$20,000; \$20,000-\$34,999; \$35,000-\$49,999; \$50,000-\$74,999; ≥\$75,000), and cigarette smoking status (never smoker vs. ever smoker defined as 100+ cigarettes/lifetime).

Statistical Analysis

Sexual orientation, HPV-related oral cancer knowledge, and HPV awareness were examined using HINTS 5, Cycles 1-3 data and general HPV knowledge was examined in a sub-analysis using HINTS 5, Cycle 1 data. Analyses were adjusted for survey wave and used the appropriate weighting for the HINTS design, which corrected for differences in selection probabilities.⁴⁴ This allowed for U.S. population estimation, although the sample consisted of 10,859 participants. As described in HINTS methodology reports, 'replicate weights were calculated using the delete one, jackknife replication method'.^{44–46} The analytic process

began by generating descriptive statistics to characterize the sample and summarize frequencies. Multiple imputation (15 datasets) was used to address missingness. Percent missing data was determined for each covariate by sex.

All analyses were stratified by sex. The HINTS cycles were merged, and appropriate weights were applied, following HINTS best practices for merging and weighting data.^{47,48} The data from all three cycles were merged to create the analytic sample with one final sample weight and 150 replicate weights (50 weights per cycle included in this analysis).^{47,48} Weighted chi-square tests were used to examine the differences in categorical variables (race, ethnicity, education, smoking status, income, insurance, regular medical provider, and age) by sexual orientation.

After applying appropriate weights, a missing data pattern analysis was conducted to assess the Missing at Random assumption and multiple imputation (through fully conditional specification) was determined to be an appropriate method to handle missing data.^{49–51} Following multiple imputation (stratified by sex and informed by all covariates in the model) a weighted bivariate analysis using logistic regression examined unadjusted associations of HPV knowledge and awareness between sexual minority persons and heterosexual persons.

The final model used weighted logistic regression, adjusting for demographic characteristics and survey cycle, to examine associations of HPV knowledge and awareness between sexual minority persons and heterosexual persons. In the bivariate analysis and final model, weighted percentages, standard errors, odds ratios, and 95% confidence intervals were computed. The same analytic process was followed for the sub-analysis, with the exception of merging HINTS cycles because only HINTS 5, Cycle 1 was used in the sub-analysis (N=2,941). All analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4.⁵²

Results

Sample Characteristics

Overall, 5.2% of respondents reported their sexual orientation as LGB or something else; 4.8% of women and 7.6% of men identified as sexual minorities. Men were more likely to identify as sexual minorities compared to women (p<0.01). Among women, age (range: 18-101 years) was significantly different; comparisons showed that sexual minority women were younger (p<0.01), more likely to smoke (p=0.01), had lower income (p=0.02), and were less likely to have a regular medical provider (p<0.01) than heterosexual women (Table 1.1). Among men, age (range: 18-99 years) was significantly different; sexual minority men were younger (p = 0.02) than their heterosexual counterparts (Table 1.1).

HPV as a Cause of Oral Cancer and Awareness

Overall, 19% of respondents were aware HPV can cause oral cancer. There was no significant difference in HPV-related oral cancer knowledge based on sexual orientation for men or women in unadjusted (Table 1.2) and adjusted models (Table 1.3). Most respondents were aware of HPV (66%). There was no significant difference in HPV awareness based on sexual orientation for men or women in unadjusted (Table 1.2) and adjusted models (Table 1.3). (Table 1.3).

Cycle 1 Sub-Analysis

Only 44% of respondents were aware that HPV is a STD. There was no significant difference in knowledge of HPV as a STD based on sexual orientation for men or women in unadjusted (Table 1.2) and adjusted models (Table 1.4). Approximately 95% of participants responded that HPV requires medical treatment, indicating it would not resolve without medical intervention. There was no significant difference in knowledge of HPV not typically

Sexual Urientation										
		W_0	men (N=6,294)				N	len (N=4,565)		
Sexual Orientation	Heterosexu	al	Sexual Mine	ority	p-value ^a	Heterose	xual	Sexual Min	nority	p-value ^a
·	n (% ^b)	SE	n (% ^b)	SE		n (% ^b)	SE	n (% ^b)	SE	
Race					0.06					0.14
White	4,214 (77.5)	0.6	175 (64.9)	4.7		3,200 (78.4)	0.8	188 (63.7)	5.9	
Black	1,099(14.4)	0.5	51 (14.4)	2.8		524 (11.8)	0.8	33 (18.1)	5.3	
Asian/Pacific Islander	314 (6.1)	0.5	24 (14.8)	4.1		274 (7.5)	0.6	31 (16.3)	4.9	
Native American	187 (2.1)	0.2	18 (5.9)	2.4		105 (2.3)	0.4	14 (1.9)	0.8	
Ethnicity					0.22					0.98
Not Hispanic	4,878 (84.9)	0.6	220 (80.2)	3.7		3,481 (84.4)	0.7	220 (84.5)	4.9	
Hispanic/Latinx	784 (15.1)	0.6	46 (19.8)	3.7		594 (15.6)	0.7	38 (15.5)	4.9	
Education					0.95					0.87
High School or Less	1,487 (29.1)	0.7	65 (29.4)	4.2		976 (30.6)	0.9	52 (29.5)	6.9	
Greater than High School	4,481 (70.9)	0.7	217 (70.6)	4.2		3,283 (69.4)	0.9	225 (70.5)	6.9	
Smoking Status					0.01					0.73
Never Smoker	3,925 (67.1)	0.9	160 (55.2)	4.7		2,378(59.1)	1.4	152 (57.2)	5.5	
Ever Smoker	2,064 (32.9)	0.9	122 (44.8)	4.7		1,885(40.9)	1.4	125 (42.8)	5.5	
Income					0.02					0.50
< \$20,000	1,092 (17.8)	0.9	74 (22.7)	3.9		548 (15.1)	1.1	57 (20.5)	4.4	
\$20,000-\$34,999	810 (12.7)	0.8	40 (15.3)	4.1		459 (10.4)	0.9	41 (9.5)	4.3	
\$35,000-\$49,999	737 (13.7)	0.8	44 (18.6)	3.8		510 (13.8)	0.9	24 (13.0)	5.2	
\$50,000-\$74,999	1,008 (18.3)	0.8	31 (9.7)	2.5		756 (18.9)	1.1	43 (12.9)	3.5	
<u>>\$75,000</u>	1,896 (37.5)	0.9	78 (33.7)	5.9		1,769(41.8)	1.3	104 (44.1)	5.8	
Insurance					0.06					0.19
Uninsured	700 (16.1)	0.9	59 (24.1)	4.1		390 (16.6)	1.1	38 (25.1)	5.9	
Insured	5,201 (83.9)	0.9	215 (75.9)	4.1		3,816 (83.4)	1.1	235 (74.9)	5.9	
Primary Care Provider					< 0.01					0.29
No Regular Provider	1,602(30.1)	1.1	113 (46.8)	5.3		1,230 (37.8)	1.4	77 (32.1)	5.4	
Regular Provider	4,321 (69.9)	1.1	168 (53.2)	5.3		3,022 (62.2)	1.4	194 (67.9)	5.4	

		\mathbf{W}_{0}	men (N=6,294	(M	en (N=4,565)		
Sexual Orientation	Heterosexu	al	Sexual Min	ority	p-value ^a	Heterose	xual	Sexual Mi	nority	p-value ^a
	n (% ^b)	SE	n (% ^b)	SE		n (% ^b)	SE	n (% ^b)	SE	
Age					<0.01					0.02
18-34 years	791 (22.3)	0.8	79 (45.0)	4.5		442 (22.1)	1.4	54 (40.4)	5.5	
35-49 years	1,202 (26.5)	0.8	72 (26.7)	4.3		803 (28.2)	1.4	43 (18.0)	4.7	
50-69 years	2,621 (37.2)	0.7	99 (21.2)	3.2		1,971 (38.0)	1.0	137 (35.2)	4.7	
70+years	1,319(14.0)	0.3	33 (7.1)	1.9		1,029(11.6)	0.3	39 (6.4)	1.8	
Sexual Minority (Women)	= Lesbian/Bisexu	al/Some	thing Else; Sex	tual Mine	ority (Men) =	: Gay/Bisexual/Sc	mething El	se; SE = Standar	d Error of	Row Percent;
^a p-value comparing heter	sexual women vs.	sexual	minority wome	in and her	erosexual m	en vs. sexual min	ority men; ^b	Weighted Perce	int. Note: P	ercent
Missingness was calculate (W:0.7; M:0.6); Smoking	d for each covariat Status (W:0.4; M:(te, by sei 0.5); Ince	x: Race (Wome ome (W:7.7; M	en (W):3. [:5.6); Ins	8; Men (M): surance (W:1	4.6); Ethnicity (W .9; M:1.9); Regul	/:5.8 M:5.1) lar Medical	t; Age (W:1.2; N Provider (W:1.4	4:1.0); Edu ; M:0.9)	cation

•	ntinuec	
2	Ŭ.	
•	formation	
)		
	of Health	
	Characteristics (
	Demographic (
,	-	
	Table 1	

Table 1.2. Unadjusted and Adjusted Logistic Regression Models of Human Papillomavirus-Related
Awareness and Knowledge by Sex, based on Sexual Orientation ^a ; Health Information National Trends
Survey 5, Cycles 1-3

	Mo	men	M	en
HPV Variables	OR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Cycles 1-3	-	-	-	-
Heard of HPV	1.04 (0.86-1.27)	1.00 (0.81-1.25)	1.14 (0.86-1.51)	1.14 (0.87-1.51)
HPV Can Cause Oral Cancer	0.96 (0.76-1.22)	0.98 (0.76-1.26)	1.16 (0.89-1.52)	1.10 (0.86-1.42)
Cycle 1 ^b				
HPV is an STD	0.97 (0.69-1.38)	1.05 (0.72-1.54)	1.15 (0.78-1.68)	1.25 (0.89-1.77)
HPV will usually go away on its own	0.72 (0.43-1.23)	1.39 (0.87-2.21)	0.60 (0.29-1.25)	0.51 (0.23-1.14)
^a Comparison of sexual minority women	n who identify as Lesb	vian, Bisexual or some	ething else to their het	erosexual
counterparts (referent group) and compa	arison of sexual minor	ity men who identify	as Gay, Bisexual, or s	something else to
their heterosexual counterparts (referent	group)			
^b Cvcle 1 subanalvsis only				

OR= Unadjusted Odds Ratio;

95% CI = 95% Confidence Interval;

AOR = Adjusted Odds Ratio, adjusted for: race, ethnicity, education, smoking status, income, insurance, primary care provider, age, and survey cycle (survey cycle only for Heard HPV and HPV Cause Oral Cancer)

HPV = Human Papillomavirus

STD = Sexually Transmitted Disease

Note: Percent missingness was calculated for each HPV variables: Heard of HPV: 0.69%; HPV Can Cause Oral Cancer: 4.1%; HPV is an STD: 1.3%; HPV will usually go away on its own: 2.2%

Cancer knowledge by	Sex (He	alun Infor	mauon l	Vationa	I I rends	survey,	Cycles	(C-I	V Con Co	on O oom	Concou	
Ι	M	Шen	caru ol nr	V (AWa	reness) Man		M	TH THE	V Call Ca	use Ora	ll Calicer Man	
I	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value
Sexual Orientation			•									
Sexual Minority	1.00	0.81-1.25	0.97	1.14	0.87-1.51	0.33	0.98	0.76 - 1.26	0.87	1.10	0.86-1.42	0.44
Heterosexual	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Kace												
Black	1.24	0.98-1.57	0.07	0.97	0.70 - 1.36	0.88	0.77	0.56-1.08	0.13	1.06	0.70 - 1.62	0.78
Asian/Pacific Islander	0.41	0.30-0.56	<0.01	0.57	0.40 - 0.82	<0.01	0.85	0.59 - 1.21	0.37	1.15	0.73 - 1.81	0.56
Native American	1.33	0.85-2.07	0.22	1.46	0.85-2.49	0.17	1.10	0.70 - 1.74	0.67	0.75	0.35-1.64	0.48
White	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Ethnicity												
Hispanic/Latinx	0.90	0.77-1.05	0.20	0.94	0.80 - 1.10	0.41	0.98	0.82-1.17	0.82	1.05	0.85 - 1.30	0.65
Not Hispanic	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Education												
High School or Less	0.63	0.56-0.72	<0.01	0.65	0.56-0.74	<0.01	0.70	0.60-0.82	<0.01	0.68	0.57-0.81	<0.01
Greater than High School	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Smoking Status												
Ever Smoker	1.10	0.99 - 1.22	0.09	1.24	1.09 - 1.41	<0.01	0.99	0.89-1.12	0.99	1.04	0.91 - 1.18	0.58
Never Smoker	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Income												
< \$20,000	0.66	0.53-0.82	<0.01	0.83	0.60 - 1.16	0.28	0.93	0.63-1.36	0.70	1.14	0.77 - 1.67	0.51
\$20,000-\$34,999	0.87	0.71-1.08	0.20	0.67	0.49 - 0.90	0.01	1.07	0.81 - 1.40	0.65	0.99	0.66 - 1.49	0.96
\$35,000-\$49,999	1.17	0.94 - 1.45	0.15	1.05	0.76 - 1.44	0.78	1.02	0.76 - 1.36	0.89	0.69	0.49 - 0.98	0.04
\$50,000-\$74,999	1.08	0.87-1.33	0.48	1.23	0.90 - 1.68	0.20	0.94	0.76 - 1.17	0.59	0.92	0.71 - 1.21	0.57
≥\$75,000	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Insurance												
Uninsured	0.98	0.81-1.18	0.80	0.93	0.72-1.19	0.55	0.94	0.77-1.15	0.57	0.95	0.74-1.21	0.67
Insured	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Primary Care Provider												
No Regular Provider	0.83	0.73-0.93	<0.01	0.83	0.70-0.98	0.03	0.92	0.80 - 1.05	0.22	0.81	0.68-0.97	0.02
Regular Provider	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		

Table 1.3. Adjusted Logistic Regression Model of Human Papillomavirus Awareness and Human Papillomavirus-Oral

		H	eard of HP	V (Awa)	reness)			HP	V Can Ca	use Ora	d Cancer	
	M	omen		N	Men		M	nem			Men	
	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value
Age												
18-34 years	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
35-49 years	1.57	1.28-1.92	<0.01	1.55	1.26 - 1.91	<0.01	1.29	1.06 - 1.56	0.01	1.10	0.88 - 1.38	0.39
50-69 years	0.90	0.75 - 1.07	0.22	0.87	0.73-1.03	0.11	1.07	0.93 - 1.24	0.34	0.98	0.80 - 1.20	0.82
≥70 years	0.32	0.26-0.39	<0.01	0.39	0.31 - 0.49	<0.01	0.66	0.52-0.84	<0.01	0.69	0.54 - 0.88	<0.01
Survey												
Cycle 1	1.01	0.86 - 1.19	0.89	0.90	0.77-1.06	0.22	1.03	0.88-1.22	0.67	1.07	0.86 - 1.32	0.54
Cycle 2	0.85	0.73-0.98	0.03	0.74	0.63-0.87	<0.01	0.91	0.76 - 1.09	0.30	0.75	0.60 - 0.93	0.01
Cycle 3	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Sexual Minority = Individua	als who ide	entify as Lest	oian, Gay, I	3isexual,	and Someth	iing Else;	AOR = A	djusted Odd	ls Ratio; 9	5% CI =	: 95% Confide	ence Interval

Continued
Model,
gression
ogistic Re
Adjusted L
Table 1.3.

			HPV i	s a STD				ATH	will usuall	y go away	y on its own	
	1	7omen		N	len		W.	omen			Ien	
	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value
Sexual Orientation												
Sexual Minority	1.05	0.72 - 1.54	0.79	1.25	0.89 - 1.77	0.20	1.39	0.87-2.21	0.17	0.51	0.23 - 1.14	0.10
Heterosexual	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Race												
Black	1.28	0.84 - 1.95	0.24	0.71	0.35 - 1.43	0.34	1.23	0.66-2.32	0.51	1.22	0.32 - 4.61	0.76
Asian/Pacific Islander	0.82	0.47 - 1.44	0.49	0.80	0.41-1.55	0.50	0.57	0.22 - 1.46	0.24	0.84	0.22 - 3.12	0.79
Native American	0.55	0.29 - 1.06	0.07	1.05	0.38-2.96	0.92	2.11	0.95-4.72	0.07	0.84	0.10-7.23	0.87
White	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Ethnicity												
Hispanic/Latinx	0.97	0.75 - 1.24	0.79	1.02	0.74 - 1.42	0.89	0.82	0.54 - 1.23	0.33	1.05	0.55-2.02	0.88
Not Hispanic	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Education												
High School or Less	0.61	0.49-0.75	<0.01	0.75	0.58 - 0.97	0.03	0.76	0.50 - 1.14	0.19	0.69	0.36 - 1.30	0.25
Greater than High School	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Smoking Status												
Ever Smoker	1.08	0.92 - 1.27	0.35	1.20	0.97-1.48	0.09	1.13	0.85-1.51	0.38	1.11	0.74 - 1.69	0.61
Never Smoker	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Income												
<\$20,000	0.53	0.36-0.77	<0.01	0.95	0.49 - 1.84	0.88	0.66	0.34 - 1.29	0.22	1.90	0.54 - 6.70	0.32
\$20,000-\$34,999	0.83	0.56 - 1.22	0.35	0.44	0.21-0.95	0.04	0.55	0.24 - 1.25	0.15	1.31	0.42 - 4.08	0.64
\$35,000-\$49,999	1.36	0.92 - 2.01	0.13	1.46	0.81-2.62	0.21	1.68	0.91-3.11	0.10	0.51	0.11 - 2.30	0.38
\$50,000-\$74,999	1.08	0.78 - 1.48	0.66	1.21	0.76 - 1.95	0.42	0.96	0.47 - 1.98	0.92	0.86	0.35-2.11	0.75
≥\$75,000	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Insurance							1			1		
Uninsured	1.23	0.95-1.58	0.11	0.96	0.63-1.47	0.84	0.96	0.63 - 1.45	0.85	0.93	0.54 - 1.62	0.81
Insured	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
Primary Care Provider												
No Regular Provider	0.91	0.75 - 1.10	0.31	0.86	0.69 - 1.08	0.21	0.80	0.57 - 1.14	0.22	1.30	0.83-2.05	0.25
Regular Provider	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		

Table 1.4. Adjusted Logistic Regression Model of Human Panillomavirus-Related Knowledge, by Sex (Health Information

			HPV	is a STD				ΛdΗ	will usuall	y go awa	y on its own	
	M	Vomen		N	Ien		M	omen		N	Aen	
	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value	AOR	95% CI	p-value
Age												
18-34 years	Ref			Ref			Ref			Ref		
35-49 years	1.14	0.87 - 1.48	0.35	2.14	1.51-3.04	<0.01	1.33	0.83-2.13	0.23	1.17	0.59-2.33	0.65
50-69 years	0.99	0.79 - 1.26	0.98	0.57	0.43 - 0.76	<0.01	0.88	0.54 - 1.48	0.62	0.91	0.42 - 1.96	0.81
≥70 years	0.47	0.34-0.65	<0.01	0.36	0.24 - 0.55	<0.01	0.40	0.18 - 0.89	0.03	0.27	0.10 - 0.69	<0.01

Table 1.4. Adjusted Logistic Regression Model, Continued

STD=Sexually Transmitted Disease; Sexual Minority = Individuals who identify as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Something Else; AOR = Adjusted Odds Ratio; 95% CI = 95% Confidence Interval

requiring medical treatment based on sexual orientation for men or women in unadjusted (Table 1.2) and adjusted models (Table 1.4).

Discussion

This analysis showed that regardless of sexual orientation, a majority of people (66%) were aware of HPV, but not that HPV can cause oral cancer (19%). As the most common HPV-related cancer^{1–3}, it is imperative that public awareness is increased and that individuals understand the risk factors and early signs/symptoms. Currently, there is no recommended screening protocol for HPV-related oral cancer and diagnosis relies on individuals noticing subtle changes in their health and consulting a healthcare provider.⁵³ Although HPV-related oral cancers are more responsive to treatment than non-HPV oral cancers,¹¹ early diagnosis and treatment are still vital for recovery and survival.

The results of this analysis did not support the *a priori* hypotheses that sexual minority men are more knowledgeable, whereas sexual minority women are less knowledgeable, of HPV-related oral cancer than their heterosexual counterparts. As previously described, lesbian and bisexual women have lower rates of medical utilization and experience discrimination in the medical setting than heterosexual women.²¹ They may experience similar risks as their heterosexual counterparts, but may not be provided the same level of care and information from medical providers.²¹

A recent HINTS analysis found LGB respondents were less likely to consult medical professionals than heterosexual respondents.⁵⁴ In this study, sexual minority women were significantly less likely than heterosexual women to have a regular medical provider, and HPV awareness was associated with having a regular medical provider for both men and women. Without a regular provider, people may not be receiving crucial HPV information, highlighting the importance of increasing HPV awareness through alternative means (i.e., not

solely relying on providers), especially for sexual minority women who may face healthcare barriers.

Furthermore, consistent with previous research, this analysis found that sexual minority women were more likely than heterosexual women to report they smoked cigarettes, which can contribute to the development of HPV-related oral cancer.^{12,26} Interestingly, research has found that smoking is significantly associated with oral HPV infection for women, but not for men.⁵⁵ HPV-related oral cancer educational campaigns must consider behavioral factors such as smoking, that may be more common in sexual minority persons, which can contribute to HPV-related oral cancer.

This analysis highlighted demographic differences in HPV knowledge and awareness for both men and women. Results are in accord with the patterns in HPV knowledge described by McBride and Singh (2018).⁵⁶ Noticeably, HPV awareness was associated with younger age (less than 50 years), higher education, and having a regular medical provider for both men and women. Among men higher education and having a regular medical provider were significantly associated with HPV-related oral cancer knowledge. While for women, higher education and age (less than 50 years old) were significantly associated with HPV-related oral cancer knowledge.

The demographic characteristics associated with HPV awareness in this analysis align with results from previous HINTS cycles^{37,56,57} and suggest multiple factors must be considered when creating interventions to increase awareness. Therefore, the statuses of subpopulations of sexual minority persons with intersectional multiple minority/disadvantaged statuses must be considered to appropriately intervene on health disparities.^{58–61} Due to a limited sample size, this study was unable to examine the joint

influences of multiple minority statuses. Additional research is needed to understand how the intersections of sexual orientation with other demographic factors impact HPV-related oral cancer awareness and knowledge.

Researchers and clinicians are making remarkable advancements in the field of prevention and diagnostics of HPV-related oral cancer.^{62–64} Wang et al., (2020) found that using an acoustofluidic platform for saliva may be an effective way to identify the presence of HPV-16 in the mouth.⁶² Another promising advancement in early identification of oral cancers uses a computer-based algorithm to identify cancerous lesions.⁶³ As of June 2020, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration listed Gardasil 9 (HPV-vaccine) as preventing oropharyngeal and other head and neck cancers for men and women.⁶⁵ Previously, it was listed for the prevention of cervical and anal cancers.⁶⁶

As clinical scientific discoveries advance the field of HPV-related head and neck cancers, the behavioral science field must examine population-level knowledge, awareness, and risk perceptions of HPV and related cancers, especially oral cancers, due to its rapidly increasing incidence. Improved understanding will allow public health professionals to tailor campaigns to populations at greater risk for developing HPV-related oral cancers or those less likely to receive appropriate and timely oral cancer treatment. Improved understanding can be achieved through qualitative methods to provide context to perceptions and inform quantitative studies designed to evaluate population-level knowledge, awareness, risk perceptions and behaviors.

Limitations

Although the sample was large, the number of sexual minority respondents was relatively small, especially when stratified by sex. This resulted in relatively low power to detect differences based on sexual orientation. Additionally, the sample sizes for the sexual

minority group were too small to examine sexual minority subgroups. This small sample size limited the ability to accurately depict the knowledge and awareness of subgroups within this diverse population.

Furthermore, alcohol use is an important factor to consider when studying oral HPV acquisition. However, alcohol use was not collected in all three HINTS iterations, and was therefore not included in the analysis. Another important factor to consider is number of sexual partners, specifically oral sexual partners (a risk factor for oral HPV), but this information was not collected as part of HINTS. The sub-analysis had a very limited sample size and results should be interpreted with caution. Due to the cross-sectional nature of the data, causal inferences cannot be established.

Strengths

This study was strengthened by multiple merged waves of weighted data which yielded a large sample size. The analysis used a population-based sample, generating generalizable U.S. estimates. Additionally, HINTS participants were sampled without respect to their sexual orientation, therefore the comparison between sexual minority and heterosexual participants is strengthened.

Future Research

As the rates of HPV-related oral cancer increase, individuals must understand their risk for HPV and oral cancer. Public health researchers must prioritize recruiting sexual minority populations to properly power analyses that do not conflate sexual minority subgroups. This approach will allow for a more accurate characterization of their HPV-knowledge/attitudes, and awareness.

Conclusion

Sexual minority and heterosexual adults had comparable, HPV-related oral cancer knowledge. Although HPV awareness was high, knowledge of HPV-related oral cancer was low. This demonstrates a significant gap in prevention efforts. Novel behavioral campaigns must be developed to target the overall population as well as marginalized populations, including sexual minority men and women.

*Chapter 1, in full, is a reprint of the material as it appears in LGBT Health. Dougherty, Erin L., Corliss, Heather L., Kritz-Silverstein, Donna, Strong, David R., Crespo, Noe C., and Finlayson, Tracy L. (August 2, 2020) doi: https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2021.0146. The dissertation/thesis author was the primary investigator and author of this paper.

Author Contributions:

<u>Erin Dougherty, MPH</u>- Conceptualization (lead), Data Curation (lead), Formal Analysis (lead), Methodology (lead), Validation (lead), Visualization (lead), Writing- original draft (lead), Writing- review and editing (equal)

<u>Heather L. Corliss, MPH, PhD</u>- Conceptualization (supporting), Formal Analysis (supporting), Methodology (supporting), Validation (supporting), Visualization (supporting), Writing-review and editing (equal)

<u>Donna Kritz-Silverstein, PhD</u>- Conceptualization (supporting), Formal Analysis (supporting), Methodology (supporting), Validation (supporting), Visualization (supporting), Writingreview and editing (equal)

<u>David Strong, PhD</u>- Conceptualization (supporting), Formal Analysis (supporting), Methodology (supporting), Validation (supporting), Visualization (supporting), Writingreview and editing (equal)

<u>Noe Crespo, MS, MPH, PhD</u>- Conceptualization (supporting), Formal Analysis (supporting), Methodology (supporting), Validation (supporting), Visualization (supporting), Writingreview and editing (equal)

<u>Tracy L. Finlayson, PhD</u>- Conceptualization (supporting), Formal Analysis (supporting), Methodology (supporting), Validation (supporting), Visualization (supporting), Writing-review and editing (equal)

Author Disclosure Statement: No competing financial interests exist for any authors.

Funding Information Statement: This study was not funded by any external sources.

<u>Acknowledgements</u>: All contributors to this study met the requirements to be listed as an author.

Disclaimer: The findings and content presented in this article are solely the responsibility of the authors. This analysis was a secondary analysis of data collected by the National Institutes of Health (NIH)- National Cancer Institute (NCI) as part of the Health Information National Trends Survey. The findings presented do not necessarily represent the views and/or opinions of the NIH or NCI.

References

- Van Dyne EA, Henley SJ, Saraiya M, Thomas CC, Markowitz LE, Benard VB. Trends in human papillomavirus-associated cancers- United States, 1999-2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2018;67(33):918-924. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6733a2
- 2. American Cancer Society. What are oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers? Accessed May 12, 2019. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/oral-cavity-and-oropharyngealcancer/about/what-is-oral-cavity-cancer.html
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Head and neck cancers. Accessed May 12, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/headneck/index.htm
- 4. National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research. Oral cancer incidence (new cases) by age, race, and gender. 2018. Updated July 2018. Accessed April 13, 2019. https://www.nidcr.nih.gov/research/data-statistics/oral-cancer/incidence
- 5. The Oral Cancer Foundation. HPV/oral cancer facts. Accessed August 3, 2022. https://oralcancerfoundation.org/understanding/hpv/hpv-oral-cancer-facts/
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HPV and orophyarngeal cancer. Accessed April 21, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/hpv/basic_info/hpv_oropharyngeal.htm
- 7. Chung CH, Bagheri A, D'Souza G. Epidemiology of oral human papillomavirus infection. *Oral Oncol.* 2014;50(5):364-369. doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.09.003
- 8. Schiffman M, Clifford G, Buonaguro FM. Classification of weakly carcinogenic human papillomavirus types: addressing the limits of epidemiology at the borderline. *Infect Agent Cancer*. 2009;4:1-8. doi:10.1186/1750-9378-4-8
- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. What is HPV? Accessed March 12, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/hpv/parents/whatishpv.html
- Muñoz N, Bosch FX, de Sanjosé S, et al. Epidemiologic classification of human papillomavirus types associated with cervical cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(6):518-527. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa021641
- Sathish N, Wang X, Yuan Y. Human papillomavirus (HPV)-associated oral cancer and treatment strategies. *J Dent Res.* 2014;93(7 Suppl):295-35S. doi:10.1177/0022034514527969
- 12. Sinha P, Logan HL, Mendenhall WM. Human papillomavirus, smoking, and head and neck cancer. *Am J Otolaryngol*. 2012;33(1):130-136. doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2011.02.001

- 13. Sonawane Deshmukh K, Suk R, Chaio EY, et al. Differences in prevalence between sexes and concordance with genital human papillomavirus infection, NHANES 2011 to 2014. *Ann Intern Med.* 2017;167(10):714-724. doi:10.7326/M17-1363
- 14. Chaturvedi AK, Graubard BI, Broutian T, et al. NHANES 2009-2012 findings: association of sexual behaviors with higher prevalence of oral oncogenic human papillomavirus infections in U.S. men. *Cancer Res.* 2015;75(12):2468-2477. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2843
- 15. Chen SY, Massa S, Mazul AL, et al. The association of smoking and outcomes in HPV-positive oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review. *Am J Otolaryngol Head Neck Med Surg*. 2020;41(5):102592. doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102592
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Oral cancer: screening. Accessed February 25, 2018. https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ UpdateSummaryFinal/oral-cancer-screening1
- 17. Day AT, Fakhry C, Tiro JA, Dahlstrom KR, Sturgis EM. Considerations in human papillomavirus–associated oropharyngeal cancer screening: A review. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2020;146(7):656-664. doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2019.4811
- Kim KY, Lewis JS Jr, Chen Z. Current status of clinical testing for human papillomavirus in oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *J Pathol Clin Res.* 2018;4(4):213-226. doi:10.1002/cjp2.111
- Chaturvedi AK, Engels EA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Human papillomavirus and rising oropharyngeal cancer incidence in the United States. *J Clin Oncol.* 2011;29(32):4294-4301. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.4596
- 20. Schabath MB, Curci MB, Kanetsky PA, et al. Ask and tell: the importance of the collection of sexual orientation and gender identity data to improve the quality of cancer care for sexual and gender minorities. *J Oncol Pract* 2017;13(8):542-546. doi:10.1200/JOP.2017.024281
- 21. Institute of Medicine. *The Health of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender People: Building a Foundation for Better Understanding*. National Academies Press; 2011. https://doi.org/10.17226/13128
- 22. Herek GM. Sexual stigma and sexual prejudice in the United States: a conceptual framework. In: Hope DA, ed. *Contemporary perspectices on lesbian, gay, and bisexual identites*. Springer; 2009:65-111. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-09556-1_4
- 23. Valanis BG, Bowen DJ, Bassford T, Whitlock E, Charney P, Carter RA. Sexual orientation and health: Comparisons in the Women's Health Initiative sample. *Arch Fam Med.* 2000;9(9):843-853. doi:10.1001/archfami.9.9.843

- 24. McRee AL, Katz ML, Paskett ED, Reiter PL. HPV vaccination among lesbian and bisexual women: findings from a national survey of young adults. *Vaccine*. 2014;32(37):4736-4742. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.001
- 25. Tang H, Greenwood GL, Cowling DW, Lloyd JC, Roeseler AG, Bal DG. Cigarette smoking among lesbians, gays, and bisexuals: how serious a problem? (United States). *Cancer Causes Control* 2004;15(8):797-803. doi:10.1023/B:CACO.0000043430.32410.69
- 26. Lee JGL, Griffin GK, Melvin CL. Tobacco use among sexual minorities in the USA, 1987 to May 2007: a systematic review. *Tob Control*. 2009;18(4):275-282. doi:10.1136/tc.2008.028241
- 27. American Lung Association. The LGBT community, a priority population for tobacco control. Accessed May 23, 2022. https://www.lung.org/getmedia/d843353c-2609-4554-9daf-f4b629c99503/lgbt-issue-brief-update.pdf.pdf
- 28. King BA, Dube SR, Tynan MA. Current tobacco use among adults in the United States: Findings from the National Adult Tobacco Survey. *Am J Public Health*. 2012;102(11):e93-e100. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.301002
- 29. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender persons and tobacco use. Accessed November 5, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/disparities/lgbt/index.htm
- 30. Polek C, Hardie T. Lesbian women and knowledge about human papillomavirus. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 2010;37(3):E191-E197. doi:10.1188/10.onf.e191-e197
- 31. Power J, Mcnair R, Carr S. Absent sexual scripts: lesbian and bisexual women's knowledge, attitudes and action regarding safer sex and sexual health information. *Cult Health Sex.* 2009;11(1):67-81. doi:10.1080/13691050802541674
- 32. Saunders CL, Meads C, Abel GA, Lyratzopoulos G. Associations between sexual orientation and overall and site-specific diagnosis of cancer: evidence from two national patient surveys in England. *J Clin Oncol.* 2017;35(32):3654-3661. doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.72.5465
- Cab-Sánchez BG, Hernández-Solís SE, Rueda-Gordillo F, Conde-Ferráez L, Gómez-Carballo JG, González-Losa MDR. Epidemiology of oral HPV infection in young healthy individuals. *Rev Chilena Infectología*. 2017;34(6):557-562. doi:10.4067/s0716-10182017000600557
- 34. Wierzbicka M, Klussmann JP, San Giorgi MR, Wuerdemann N, Dikkers FG. Oral and laryngeal HPV infection: Incidence, prevalence and risk factors, with special regard to concurrent infection in head, neck and genitals. *Vaccine*. 2021;39(17):2344-2350. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.047

- 35. D'Souza G, Kluz N, Wentz A, et al. Oral human papillomavirus (HPV) infection among unvaccinated high-risk young adults. *Cancers*. 2014;6(3):1691-1704. doi:10.3390/cancers6031691
- 36. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HPV and men fact sheet. Accessed July 3, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/stdfact-hpv-and-men.htm
- Osazuwa-Peters N, Adjei Boakye E, Mohammed KA, Tobo BB, Geneus CJ, Schootman M. Not just a woman's business! Understanding men and women's knowledge of HPV, the HPV vaccine, and HPV-associated cancers. *Prev Med*. 2017;99:299-304. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.03.014
- 38. Brewer NT, Ng TW, McRee AL, Reiter PL. Men's beliefs about HPV-related disease. *J Behav Med*. 2010;33(4):274-281. doi:10.1007/s10865-010-9251-2
- Machalek DA, Poynten M, Jin F, et al. Anal human papillomavirus infection and associated neoplastic lesions in men who have sex with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(5):487-500. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70080-3
- 40. Wieland U, Kreuter A, Pfister H. Human papillomavirus and immunosuppression. In: Ramírez-Fort MK, Khan F, Rady PL, Tyring SK, eds. *Human Papillomavirus: Bench to Bedside: Current Problems in Dermatology*. Vol 45. Karger; 2014:154-165. https://doi.org/10.1159/000357907
- 41. Beachler DC, Abraham AG, Silverberg MJ, et al. Incidence and risk factors of HPVrelated and HPV-unrelated head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in HIV-infected individuals. *Oral Oncol.* 2014;50(12):1169-1176. doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.09.011
- 42. Gilbert P, Brewer NT, Reiter PL, Ng TW, Smith JS. HPV vaccine acceptability in heterosexual, gay, and bisexual men. *Am J Mens Health*. 2011;5(4):297-305. doi:10.1177/1557988310372802
- 43. National Cancer Institute. Health information national trends survey. Accessed February 25, 2018. https://hints.cancer.gov/default.aspx
- 44. Westat. *Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): Cycle 1 Methodology Report.* National Cancer Institute; 2017. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/ methodologyreports/HINTS5_Cycle_2_Methodology_Report.pdf
- 45. Westat. *Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): Cycle 2 Methodology Report.* National Cancer Institute; 2018. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/ methodologyreports/HINTS5_Cycle_2_Methodology_Report.pdf
- Westat. Health Information National Trends Survey 5 (HINTS 5): Cycle 3 Methodology Report. National Cancer Institute; 2019. https://hints.cancer.gov/docs/Instruments/HINTS5_Cycle3_MethodologyReport.pdf

- 47. National Cancer Institute. HINTS educational webinars. Accessed October 30, 2019. https://hints.cancer.gov/meetings-trainings/hints-educational-webinars.aspx
- 48. Moser RP, Naveed S, Cantor D, et al. *Integrative Analytic Methods Using Population-Level Cross-Sectional Data*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2013. http://hints.cancer.gov/docs/HINTS_IDA_Report.pdf
- 49. Zahnd WE, Davis MM, Rotter JS, et al. Rural-urban differences in financial burden among cancer survivors: an analysis of a nationally representative survey. *Support Care Cancer*. 2019;27(12):4779-4786. doi:10.1007/s00520-019-04742-z
- 50. van Buuren S. Multiple imputation of discrete and continuous data by fully conditional specification. *Stat Methods Med Res.* 2007;16(3):219-242. doi:10.1177/0962280206074463
- 51. Liu Y, De A. Multiple imputation by fully conditional specification for dealing with missing data in a large epidemiologic study. *Int J Stat Med Res.* 2015;4(3):287-295. doi:10.6000/1929-6029.2015.04.03.7
- 52. *SAS Software*. SAS Institute Inc.; 2022. Accessed May 15, 2019. https://www.sas.com/en_us/company-information.html
- 53. The Oral Cancer Foundation. Screening. Accessed February 9, 2019. https://oralcancerfoundation.org/screening/
- 54. Langston ME, Fuzzell L, Lewis-Thames MW, Khan S, Moore JX. Disparities in health information-seeking behaviors and fatalistic views of cancer by sexual orientation identity: a nationally representative study of adults in the United States. *LGBT Health.* 2019;6(4):192-201. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2018.0112
- 55. Gillison ML, Broutian T, Pickard RKL, et al. Prevalence of oral HPV infection in the United States, 2009-2010. *JAMA*. 2012;307(7):693-703. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.101
- 56. McBride KR, Singh S. Predictors of adults' knowledge and awareness of HPV, HPVassociated cancers, and the HPV vaccine: implications for health education. *Health Educ Behav.* 2018;45(1):68-76. doi:10.1177/1090198117709318
- 57. Adjei Boakye E, Tobo BB, Rojek RP, Mohammed KA, Geneus CJ, Osazuwa-Peters N. Approaching a decade since HPV vaccine licensure: racial and gender disparities in knowledge and awareness of HPV and HPV vaccine. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2017;13(11):2713-2722. doi:10.1080/21645515.2017.1363133
- 58. Bowleg L. The problem with the phrase women and minorities: intersectionality-an important theoretical framework for public health. *Am J Public Health*. 2012;102(7):1267-1273. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300750

- 59. Gorman BK, Denney JT, Dowdy H, Medeiros RA. A new piece of the puzzle: sexual orientation, gender, and physical health status. *Demography*. 2015;52(4):1357-1382. doi:10.1007/s13524-015-0406-1
- 60. Grollman EA. Multiple disadvantaged statuses and health: the role of multiple forms of discrimination. *J Health Soc Behav.* 2014;55(1):3-19. doi:10.1177/0022146514521215
- 61. Cho S, Crenshaw KW, McCall L. Toward a field of intersectionality studies: theory, applications, and praxis. *Signs J Women Cult Soc.* 2013;38(4):785-810. doi:10.1086/669608
- 62. Wang Z, Li F, Rufo J, et al. Acoustofluidic salivary exosome isolation: a liquid biopsy compatible approach for human papillomavirus–associated oropharyngeal cancer detection. *J Mol Diag.* 2020;22(1):50-59. doi:10.1016/j.jmoldx.2019.08.004
- 63. Das N, Hussain E, Mahanta LB. Automated classification of cells into multiple classes in epithelial tissue of oral squamous cell carcinoma using transfer learning and convolutional neural network. *Neural Netw.* 2020;128:47-60. doi:10.1016/j.neunet.2020.05.003
- 64. Osazuwa-Peters N, Graboyes EM, Khariwala SS. Expanding indications for the human papillomavirus vaccine: one small step for the prevention of head and neck cancer, but one giant leap remains. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2020;146(12)1099-1101. doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2020.4068
- 65. Merck. Patient information about Gardasil 9: human papillomavirus 9-valent vaccine, recombinant. Accessed September 10, 2020. https://www.merck.com/product/usa/pi_circulars/g/gardasil_9/gardasil_9_ppi.pdf
- 66. U.S. Food & Drug Administration. Vaccines: Gardasil 9. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/vaccines/gardasil-9

CHAPTER 2: FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH YOUNG ADULTS' HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS (HPV) VACCINE INITIATION IN A FEDERALLY QUALIFIED HEALTH CENTER

Erin L. Dougherty, MPH, Heather L. Corliss, MPH, PhD, Donna Kritz-Silverstein, PhD, David R. Strong, PhD, Noe C. Crespo, MS, MPH, PhD, Sudha Nagalingam, MD Tracy L.

Finlayson, PhD

Abstract:

Purpose: This study examined factors associated with Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine initiation in a Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC).

Methods: Electronic health record data included 1,645 FQHC patients aged 18-26 years who received medical care from January 2018-December 2019, with no prior documented history of HPV vaccination. Descriptive statistics characterized the sample, and multiple imputation was used to address missingness, followed by logistic regression to examine multivariable associations. Regression modeling was guided by Andersen Behavioral Model's factors: 'predisposing' (race, ethnicity, age, gender identity, and sexual orientation), 'enabling' (insurance, provider type, and utilization frequency), and 'need' (tobacco use, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) diagnosis, sexually transmitted disease (STI) testing, and history of STIs). The outcome, HPV vaccine initiation, was defined as receiving at least one dose of the HPV vaccine series during the study period.

Results: Young adults had relatively low HPV vaccine initiation rates (males=19%; females=21%). For males, minority sexual orientation (OR:1.75; 95% CI:1.20-2.55) and HIV+ status (OR:2.63; 95% CI:1.16-5.97) were associated with greater odds of HPV vaccine initiation; as age increased, odds of HPV vaccine initiation decreased (OR:0.74; 95% CI:0.66-0.84). For females, non-White race (OR:1.26; 95% CI:1.04-1.53), having a nurse practitioner/physician assistant as a provider (OR:1.33; 95% CI:1.08-1.65), and more

frequent utilization (OR:1.54; 95% CI:1.31-1.80) were associated with greater odds of HPV vaccine initiation.

Conclusion: Only one in five young adults initiated HPV vaccination during the study period. Findings may help FQHCs attend to the differences between individuals through tailored efforts to increase HPV vaccine initiation.

Background

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), over 45,000 people in the United States (US) are diagnosed with cancer caused by Human Papillomavirus (HPV), annually.¹ HPV is the most common sexually transmitted infection (STI) in the US² and there are over 200 strains of the virus with varying classifications of risk.³ The high-risk strains of HPV can develop into cervical, penile, anal, and oropharyngeal cancers;¹ however, it is estimated that over 90% of cases of HPV-related cancer cases could be prevented through timely vaccination.^{4,5}

The HPV vaccine was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and has been recommended as a routine vaccination for men and women since 2011. The vaccine can be administered from ages 9 to 45 years, as a two dose series for those 9-14 years old and three dose series for those 15+ years old.^{6–8} While the vaccine is routinely recommended in primary care settings, in 2020, only 54.5% of US adolescents aged 13-15 years were vaccinated.⁹ Given that HPV vaccination rates are low during adolescence, it is necessary for catch-up vaccination. However, catch-up vaccination rates are even lower than among adolescents with 40% of 18-26 year old individuals receiving at least one dose and only 22% completing the three dose series.¹⁰

HPV vaccination prevents HPV-related cancers and reduces the burden on patients and the healthcare system. It is estimated that approximately 80% of males and females would need to be vaccinated in order to eliminate certain oncogenic HPV strains.^{11,12} A recent analysis found that 'routine adolescent HPV vaccination' could save \$5.1 billion annually in HPV-related cancer costs; and including catch up vaccination (up to 26 years) could save an additional \$3.8 billion annually.¹³

In the US, HPV vaccine initiation in adulthood is higher among non-Hispanic Whites (42%) compared to Hispanics (36%)¹⁰ and the HPV-related cancer burden is highest among low-income counties in the US.¹⁴ Given the effectiveness of the HPV vaccine in preventing HPV-related cancers, it is important to understand factors that contribute to vaccine uptake, especially among Hispanics with lower vaccination rates and among lower income communities that carry a higher HPV-related cancer burden. Due to the increasing proportion of Hispanics receiving health care at Federally Qualified Health Centers and the considerable number of low income patients served, an FQHC setting was selected for the study.¹⁵

This study was guided by the Andersen Behavioral Model which posits that predisposing, enabling, and need factors contribute to health care service utilization (i.e., HPV vaccine initiation).¹⁶ Predisposing factors include demographic and other fixed characteristics (e.g. race, ethnicity, age, gender, sexual orientation) while enabling factors refer to factors that allow an individual to access health care services (e.g. healthcare utilization, health insurance, provider type).¹⁶ Need factors contribute to an individual's actual need or perception of need for particular health care services based on their health/risk behaviors (e.g. tobacco use, HIV status, STI history).¹⁶ This model was used to classify multilevel factors (at individual, interpersonal, and organizational levels) potentially associated with HPV vaccine initiation (see Figure 2.1).¹⁶

This study fills gaps in the HPV vaccination literature by focusing on a predominantly low-income, Hispanic population, aged 18-26 years old. Additionally, this study included variables not often included in HPV vaccination research, specifically history of, and testing for STIs. STI history and testing have the potential to be critical decision points for the initiation of HPV vaccination for patients and providers and should be



Figure 2.1. Andersen Behavioral Model for Human Papillomavirus Vaccine Initiation in a Federally Qualified Health Center. Note: The analysis was stratified by sex at birth (male/female) and the gender identity variable was created by comparing sex at birth to gender identity listed in the electronic health record. The gender identities included in the analysis were: cisgender, transgender/other gender minority, and unknown/missing.

considered when examining factors associated with HPV vaccine initiation.¹⁷ The purpose of

this study was to identify multilevel factors associated with HPV vaccine initiation among

individuals 18-26 years old who are patients at a large FQHC.

Methods

Study Design & Setting

This study analyzed Electronic Health Record (EHR) data collected at El Rio Health

(El Rio) in Tucson, AZ. El Rio is a large FQHC serving over 113,000 patients annually.¹⁸

This study was deemed exempt by the San Diego State University Institutional Review

Board (IRB). Following IRB review and determination, the study was reviewed and

approved by three oversight committees at El Rio prior to data extraction.

Study Population

The EHR dataset for this study included 1,645 patients aged 18-26 years who received care at El Rio from January 1, 2018, to December 31, 2019, and who met all the

following inclusion criteria. Patients had to have an assigned primary care provider and a minimum of two visits during the two-year study period, with at least one medical visit in each calendar year, and at least six months between each visit. These two conditions for medical visits were applied to ensure only patients who regularly accessed medical care at El Rio were included in the analysis. Additionally, patients had to have no history of HPV vaccination prior to 2018. Vaccines could have been administered outside of El Rio, and the EHR system at El Rio extracts data from the Arizona State Immunization Information System (ASIIS), which captures vaccination data from across the state, therefore improving the accuracy of vaccine status for the analysis.¹⁹ These strict criteria were selected so the final analytic sample would focus only on young adult patients with an established medical home at El Rio (who were eligible for HPV vaccination), as it relied on the accuracy and completion of medical charts.

Measures

All data were extracted directly from the EHR, and de-identified prior to the research team receiving the encrypted file. The health behavior of interest in the analysis was **HPV vaccine initiation** defined as receiving at least one dose of the HPV vaccination in 2018-2019 ('yes' vs. 'no'). **Sex at Birth** was used as a stratification variable for the analysis and extracted from the EHR as 'Male' or 'Female'.

Predisposing factors in this analysis included: race, ethnicity, age, gender identity, and sexual orientation. **Race** was collected as 'White', 'Asian', 'Black', 'Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander', 'Native American/American Indian', and 'Other'. Due to sample size constraints after sex (at birth) stratification, **race** was analyzed as 'White' vs. 'Non-White'. **Ethnicity** was collected as 'Hispanic' vs. 'Non-Hispanic'. **Age** was collected as a continuous variable, ranging 18-26 years. **Gender Identity** was collected as 'Female',

'Male', 'Male to Female', 'Female to Male', 'Other', and 'Choose not to Disclose'. Gender Identity was compared to Sex at Birth and a new variable was created and analyzed as 'Cisgender' (i.e., 'sex at birth' and 'gender identity' matched) vs. 'Transgender/Other Gender Minority'. Those who selected 'Choose not to Disclose' were classified as 'Unknown/Missing'. Sexual Orientation was collected as 'Heterosexual/straight', 'Bisexual', 'Lesbian/Gay', 'Choose not to Disclose', 'Don't Know', 'Something Else' and analyzed as 'Lesbian/Gay/Bisexual/Something Else' vs. 'Straight/Heterosexual'. Those who selected 'Choose not to Disclose' or 'Don't Know' were classified as 'Unknown/Missing'.

Enabling factors in this analysis included: health insurance status, provider type (physician vs. advanced practice provider such as nurse practitioner/physician's assistant vs. certified nurse midwife), and medical utilization frequency. **Health Insurance** type was collected as 'Commercial' (employer based), 'Medicaid', 'Medicare', 'Medicare Advantage', and 'Uninsured' and analyzed as 'Commercial', 'Medicaid, Medicare/Medicare Advantage' and 'Uninsured'. While health insurance type could have changed during the study period, only health insurance type at last visit was available for data extraction and was therefore used for the analysis. **Provider Type** was collected as 'Certified Nurse Midwife' (CNM) (for women only), 'Nurse Practitioner'(NP), 'Physician', and 'Physician's Assistant'(PA) and analyzed as 'CNM', 'NP/PA', and 'Physician'. Patients may seek care from more than one medical provider at El Rio, however the analysis relied on the provider that was assigned as their 'primary care provider'. **Utilization Frequency** was collected continuously and analyzed as 'two-four visits' vs. 'five or more visits.'

Need factors in this analysis included: tobacco use (due to being a health risk behavior for HPV and related cancer acquisition), HIV status, and testing/diagnostic history

of sexually transmitted infections (STI).^{10,14,17,20,21} **Tobacco Use** was analyzed as collected, 'Ever Use' vs. 'Never Use'. **HIV Status** was analyzed based on diagnostic codes as 'Ever Diagnosed' vs. 'Never Diagnosed'. **History of STI** was analyzed as 'Ever Diagnosed' vs. 'Never Diagnosed'. **STI Testing** was analyzed as 'Ever Tested' vs. 'Never Tested'. For both STI variables, the following infections were included in the data extraction: gonorrhea, chlamydia, syphilis, human papillomavirus, hepatitis B and C, and trichomoniasis. Diagnostic criteria for any STI were based on either a positive test result or ICD-10 code in the electronic health record (to capture labs performed outside of El Rio).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated to characterize the sample, understand the distribution of variables, extent of missingness (which ranged from 5% to 18%), and inform data manipulation, such as categorizing variables into analytic categories (see Table 2.1). During this process, a significant interaction was identified between sex at birth and sexual orientation, therefore the analyses were stratified by sex at birth to appropriately examine how HPV vaccine initiation differed between males and females (sex at birth). There were missing data for several predisposing factors (race, gender identity, sexual orientation, and ethnicity), but there were no missing data for enabling and need factors. To test the assumption of data 'missing at random', a missing data pattern analysis was conducted. To address missing data, multiple imputation, through fully conditional specification, (n=15) was used, given the inclusion of both continuous and categorical variables.²² Following multiple imputation (stratified by sex at birth and informed by all covariates in the model), logistic regression was used. Model building followed the Andersen Behavioral Model, introducing predisposing, enabling, and need factors to determine what factors were

significantly associated with HPV vaccine initiation.¹⁶ Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) were calculated for the HPV vaccine initiation models.

Results

Sample Characteristics

Overall, 30% of the participants were assigned male sex at birth and 70% were assigned female sex at birth. Those assigned male sex at birth and female sex at birth had similar HPV vaccine initiation rates, 19% and 21%, respectively. See Table 2.1 for the distribution of sample characteristics. In the bivariate analysis for individuals assigned male sex at birth (Table 2.1, left columns), those who initiated HPV vaccination were younger (p<0.01), identified as transgender/other gender identity (p<0.01), and had a minority sexual orientation (p<0.01) compared to those who did not initiate vaccination. Additionally, those with five or more medical visits (utilization frequency) had more HPV vaccine initiations compared to those with two to four visits (p<0.01). Finally, there was a statistically significant difference in HPV vaccination initiation based on HIV status (p<0.01), history of STI testing (p<0.01), and history of STI diagnosis (p<0.01). Specifically, those with an HIV diagnosis. Those with a history of STI testing and/or diagnosis had more frequent HPV vaccine initiation STI.

In the bivariate analysis, among individuals assigned female sex at birth, HPV vaccine initiation was more likely among those who identified as non-White (p=0.02) compared to those who identified as White. Furthermore, those with five or more medical visits (utilization frequency) had more HPV vaccine initiations compared to those with two

Status; Results of Br	variate Ana	ılysis								
	Individ	uals Assigned	d Male Sex at	Birth (n=48	(9)	Individua	uls Assigned	Female Sex at B	irth (n=1,1:	(6)
	HPV Vaccin	le Initiated	No HPV	Vaccine		HPV Vaccine	Initiated	No HPV V	⁷ accine	
	(n=0	14)	(n=3)	92)		(n=24)	2)	(n=91	(2)	
Predisposing Factors					p-value					p-value
Age	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range		Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range	
18-26 Years	22.9 (2.2)	19-26	24.0 (2.0)	18-26	<0.01	23.3 (2.3)	18-26	23.4 (2.3)	18-26	0.48
	n (°	(•)	∿) u	(0)		%) u	•	%) u		
Race					0.12					0.02
White	50 (1	8.1)	227 (8	1.9)		148 (19	.5)	612 (8().5)	
Non-White	29 (2	5.0)	87 (75	5.0)		54 (27.	(1)	145 (72	2.9)	
Gender Identity					<0.01					0.52
Cisgender	73 (1	7.4)	346 (8	2.6)		226 (21	.2)	841 (78	3.8)	
Transgender/Other	18 (4	3.9)	23 (56	5.1)		9 (25.	7)	26 (74	.3)	
Sexual Orientation					<0.01					0.29
Straight/Heterosexual	50 (1	5.1)	281 (8	4.9)		184 (21	(0.	691 (79	(0.6	
LGB/Something Else	32 (4	4.4)	40 (55	5.6)		31 (25.	(2)	92 (74	.8)	
Ethnicity					0.11					0.64
Non-Hispanic	25 (2	1.4)	92 (78	8.6)		65 (22.	3)	227 (7	(7.7)	
Hispanic	40 (1	4.8)	230 (8	5.2)		147 (20	(6)	555 (79	9.1)	
Enabling Factors										
Health Insurance					0.08					0.27
Commercial/Private	36 (1	9.2)	152 (8	0.8)		88 (21.	(8)	315 (78	8.2)	
Medicare/Medicaid	53 (2	2.0)	188 (7	8.0)		137 (21	.3)	506 (78	3.7)	
Uninsured	5 (8	(8.	52 (91	1.2)		17 (15.	(0)	96 (85	(0:	
Provider Type					0.75					<0.01
Certified Nurse Midwife	0		0			31 (14.	(0)	191 (8	5.0)	
NP/PA	42 (2	0.0)	168 (8	0.0)		109 (24	(6:	328 (7:	5.1)	
Physician	52 (1	8.8)	224 (8	1.2)		102 (20	.4)	398 (79	(9.6	
Utilization Frequency					<0.01					<0.01
2-4 Visits	39 (1	4.8)	224 (8	5.2)		76 (13.	(9)	481 (80	5.4)	
5+ Visits	55 (2	4.7)	168 (7	5.3)		166 (27	(9.	436 (73	2.4)	
Need Factors										
Tobacco Use					0.36					0.29
Ever Use	18 (2	3.1)	60 (76	5.9)		25 (25.	(0)	75 (75	(0.	
Never Use	76 (1	8.6)	332 (8	1.4)		217 (20	.5)	842 (79).5)	

Table 2.1. Demographic Characteristics of Patients by Sex at Birth and Human Papillomavirus Vaccine (HPV)

	Individuals Assigned	Male Sex at Birth (n=486)	Individuals Assigned F	remale Sex at Birth (n=1.	,159)
-	HPV Vaccine Initiated	No HPV Vaccine	HPV Vaccine Initiated	No HPV Vaccine	
	(n=94)	(n=392)	(n=242)	(n=917)	
Predisposing Factors		p-value	e		p-value
HIV Status		<0.01			N/A
Ever Diagnosed	10 (76.9)	3 (23.1)	0	0	
Never Diagnosed	84 (17.1)	389 (82.2)	0	0	
History of STI		<0.01			0.46
Ever Diagnosed	24 (36.4)	42 (63.6)	48 (22.8)	163 (77.3)	
Never Diagnosed	70 (16.7)	350 (83.3)	194 (20.5)	754 (79.5)	
STI Testing		<0.01			0.79
Ever Tested	55 (28.8)	136 (71.2)	149 (21.2)	556 (78.9)	
Never Tested	39 (13.2)	256 (86.8)	93 (20.5)	361 (79.5)	
Note. LGB/Something Els	e = Individuals who identify	r as lesbian, gay, bisexual, or some	ething else/other sexual minority	y; NP/PA = Nurse	
Practitioner/Physician Ass	istant; STI= Sexually Transi	mitted Infection; SD= Standard D	eviation; Missing Data: Race n=	=293 (18%), Gender Ider	ntity n=83
(5%), Sexual Orientation	n=244 (15%), Ethnicity n=26	54 (16%)			

Continued	
of Patients, C	
racteristics	
iic Chai	
Table 2.1. Demograph	
to four visits (p<0.01). Finally, those with a NP/PA as a primary care provider had more frequent HPV vaccine initiation (p<0.01) compared to those with another type of primary care provider.

Modeling of Predisposing +Enabling+ Need Factors

Male Sex at Birth (Table 2.2): In the final, fully adjusted multivariable model, two predisposing factors were associated with HPV vaccine initiation for individuals assigned male sex at birth. As age increased, odds of HPV vaccination decreased (OR: 0.74; 95% CI: 0.66-0.84) and individuals identifying as lesbian, gay, bisexual, or something else had higher odds than their heterosexual counterparts of initiating the HPV vaccine (OR:1.75; 95% CI: 1.20-2.55). One need factor (HIV status) was associated with HPV vaccine initiation. Those with a diagnosis of HIV had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation compared to those who did not have an HIV diagnosis (OR:2.63; 95% CI: 1.16-5.97).

Female Sex at Birth (Table 2.3): In the final, fully adjusted model, one predisposing factor was associated with HPV vaccine initiation for individuals assigned female sex at birth. Non-white females (sex at birth) had higher odds than their white counterparts of HPV vaccine initiation (OR:1.26; 95% CI:1.04-1.53). Two enabling factors were associated with HPV vaccine initiation. Specifically, individuals with a CNM as a primary care provider had lower odds of initiating HPV vaccination compared to those who had a physician assigned as a primary care provider (OR:0.71; 95% CI:0.53-0.95). Those who had a NP/PA assigned as primary care provider had higher odds of initiating HPV vaccination compared to those who had a NP/PA assigned as primary care provider had higher odds of initiating HPV vaccination compared to those who had a physician assigned as a primary care provider (OR:1.33; 95% CI:1.08-1.65). Finally, those with five or more visits in the study period had higher odds than those with two to four visits of initiating HPV vaccination (OR: 1.54; 95% CI: 1.31-1.80).

			Individuals /	Assigned Male Sex at Birth		
		Predisposing Factors	Predi	sposing +Enabling Factors	Predispos	ing+ Enabling+ Need Factors
Predisposing Factors	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval
Age						
18-26 Years	0.77*	0.69-0.87	0.76^{*}	0.68 - 0.86	0.74^{*}	0.66-0.84
Race						
White	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Non-White	1.33	0.98-1.79	1.30	0.98-1.72	1.28	0.92-1.76
Gender Identity						
Cisgender	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Transgender/Other	1.23	0.77-1.95	1.16	0.73 - 1.84	1.18	0.74 - 1.86
Sexual Orientation						
Straight/Heterosexual	Ref		Ref		Ref	
LGB/Something Else	2.11*	1.48-3.01	2.02*	1.42 - 2.87	1.75*	1.20-2.55
Ethnicity						
Non-Hispanic	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Hispanic	1.1	0.79-1.53	1.16	0.84 - 1.60	1.26	0.89 - 1.77
Enabling Factors						
Health Insurance						
Commercial/Private			Ref		Ref	
Medicare/Medicaid			1.42	0.90-3.23	1.44	0.89-2.31
Uninsured			0.55	0.26-1.16	0.52	0.24 - 1.14
Provider Type						
Certified Nurse Midwife			N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
NP/PA			1.03	0.80-1.32	0.97	0.75-1.26
Physician			Ref		Ref	
Utilization Frequency						
2-4 Visits			Ref		Ref	
5+ Visits			1.27	0.98-1.64	1.13	0.87-1.49
Need Factors						
Tobacco Use						
Ever Use					1.14	0.81 - 1.60
Never Use					Ref	

Table 2.2. Predisnosing Fnabling and Need Factors Associated with Human Panillomavirus Vaccine Initiation among

			Individuals /	Assigned Male Sex at Birth		
		Predisposing	Predis	posing +Enabling	Predisposi	ng+ Enabling+ Need
		Factors		Factors		Factors
Predisposing Factors	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval
HIV Status						
Ever Diagnosed					2.63^{*}	1.16-5.97
Never Diagnosed					Ref	
History of STI						
Ever Diagnosed					1.11	0.75-1.65
Never Diagnosed					Ref	
STI Testing						
Ever Tested					1.32	0.98-1.78
Never Tested					Ref	
Note. ^= Results of Logistic NP/PA = Nurse Practitioner/	Regression; L Physician Ass	.GB/Something Else = Indivi istant; STI= Sexually Transr	iduals who ider nitted Infectior	ntify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, n; *Significance at $\alpha = 0.05$	or something e	lse/other sexual minority;

Table 2.2. Predisposing, Enabling, and Need Factors, Continued

)			Individuals A	ssigned Female Sex at Birt	h	
-		Predisposing	Predis	e posing +Enabling	Predispos	ing+ Enabling+ Need
		Factors		Factors		Factors
Predisposing Factors	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval
Age						
18-26 Years	0.98	0.92-1.05	0.96	0.90-1.03	0.96	0.90-1.03
Race						
White	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Non-White	1.22*	1.02 - 1.45	1.26^{*}	1.03-1.52	1.26^{*}	1.04 - 1.53
Gender Identity						
Cisgender	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Transgender/Other	1.02	0.66-1.56	0.98	0.63-1.53	0.97	0.62 - 1.53
Sexual Orientation						
Straight/Heterosexual	Ref		Ref		Ref	
LGB/Something Else	1.12	0.88-1.42	1.05	0.82-1.34	1.05	0.81-1.35
Ethnicity						
Non-Hispanic	Ref		Ref		Ref	
Hispanic	1.01	0.85 - 1.20	1.04	0.87-1.24	1.06	0.87-1.25
Enabling Factors						
Health Insurance						
Commercial/Private			Ref		Ref	
Medicare/Medicaid			1.12	0.89-1.42	1.12	0.88-1.41
Uninsured			0.72	0.50 - 1.04	0.72	0.50-1.04
Provider Type						
Certified Nurse Midwife			0.71^{*}	0.54 - 0.94	0.71^{*}	0.53-0.95
NP/PA			1.33*	1.08-1.65	1.33*	1.08-1.65
Physician			Ref		Ref	
Utilization Frequency						
2-4 Visits			Ref		Ref	
5+ Visits			1.54^{*}	1.32-1.80	1.54^{*}	1.31-1.80
Need Factors						
Tobacco Use						
Ever Use					1.06	0.82-1.36
Never Use					Ref	

Table 2.3. Predisposing, Enabling, and Need Factors Associated with Human Papillomavirus Vaccine Initiation among

1					
		Individuals A	ssigned Female Sex at Birtl	h	
	Predisposing	Predis	posing +Enabling	Predisposi	ng+ Enabling+ Need
	Factors		Factors		Factors
Predisposing Factors	Odds Ratio 95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval
HIV Status					
Ever Diagnosed				N/A	N/A
Never Diagnosed					
History of STI					
Ever Diagnosed				1.04	0.85-1.26
Never Diagnosed				Ref	
STI Testing					
Ever Tested				0.99	0.84 - 1.17
Never Tested				Ref	
Note. ^= Results of Logistic Re NP/PA = Nurse Practitioner/Phy	sgression; LGB/Something Else = Individu ysician Assistant; STI= Sexually Transmi	als who identif tted Infection; *	y as lesbian, gay, bisexual, o ∗Significance at α = 0.05	or something els	e/other sexual minority;

ed
nu
ıti
5
OLS
Ę
Fa
ed
Ve
Ĕ
- - -
ing, a
ıbling, a
nabling, a
, Enabling, a
ng, Enabling, a
sing, Enabling, a
posing, Enabling, a
disposing, Enabling, a
redisposing, Enabling, a
Predisposing, Enabling, a
.3. Predisposing, Enabling, a
e 2.3. Predisposing, Enabling, a

Discussion

This study found that HPV vaccine initiation from 2018-2019 was approximately 20% for individuals who were not previously vaccinated and utilized a FQHC for regular health care. It is important that HPV vaccination is a focus of primary health care visits due to the effectiveness of the vaccine in preventing HPV-related cancers. When examining factors associated with HPV vaccine series initiation, distinct factors emerged for those assigned male versus female sex at birth. Among those assigned male sex at birth, those who were younger, identified as gay, bisexual, or something else, and were diagnosed with HIV had higher odds of beginning the HPV vaccine series. Among those assigned female sex at birth, those with non-White race, an NP/PA as a primary care provider and more frequent healthcare utilization had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation.

For those assigned male sex at birth, these findings align with the 2011 CDC HPV vaccine recommendation from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), which reported that men who have sex with men are at higher risk for HPV-related disease compared to their heterosexual counterparts, and that those living with HIV/AIDS experience a higher burden of HPV-related cancers.²³ As a result, the ACIP recommends male HPV vaccination, especially for these populations at higher risk for HPV-related diseases.²³

Specific to those assigned female sex at birth, higher health care utilization was associated with an increased likelihood of HPV vaccine series initiation, which has been noted in other studies.^{21,24} Race emerged as a significant factor, contrary to previous findings,²⁵ this analysis found that women who reported their race as non-White were more likely than their White counterparts to initiate the HPV vaccine series. However, this study had a smaller sample size and was not nationally representative. Furthermore, race was collapsed to a dichotomous variable because of the small sample sizes of each race (other

than white). Analyses by provider type showed that compared to physicians, female (sex at birth) patients with a CNM assigned provider were less likely to initiate the HPV vaccine whereas those with an assigned provider as a NP/PA were more likely to initiate the HPV vaccine. Previous studies have demonstrated that provider recommendation is associated with HPV vaccination initiation among women.^{26,27} Given the importance of provider recommendation, this finding is particularly important for health centers that employ a variety of providers – it is key that other providers are reminded of the importance of HPV vaccination.

Although STI related findings were not significant at alpha level<0.05 in this analysis, it should be noted that STI testing was nearly significant for those assigned male sex at birth. This signaled potential null bias error (OR: 1.32; 94% CI:0.98-1.78). This association was weaker among those assigned female sex at birth, underscoring the importance of sex-stratified analyses regarding HPV vaccine initiation.

Strengths/Limitations

Due to the significant interaction term identified during the analytic process, sex at birth-stratified analyses were conducted, which created relatively smaller sample sizes, which led to reduced statistical power and may have caused potential null bias error, especially among men (n=486) for various factors, including race, ethnicity, health insurance, and history of STI testing. This study relied entirely on EHR data. While informative, the data were restricted to pre-determined fields, without patient perspectives. Though EHR data are restricted to information entered in the patient chart, the use of these systems offers the opportunity to combine data sources.

Specific to vaccination data, the Arizona Department of Health Services "Arizona State Immunization Information System (ASIIS)", allowed the EHR system at El Rio (and

other health care organizations) to import vaccination data for patients (given the vaccine was administered in Arizona). This strengthened the study by capturing vaccination status, regardless of administration location; however, it is possible that the analysis erroneously allocated patients to an 'unvaccinated' status if they received the vaccine outside of Arizona and did not report it to El Rio.

Given the data available, this analysis was not able to determine whether patients requested the vaccine or providers suggested the vaccine and patients agreed to vaccination. Finally, this analysis focused only on HPV vaccine initiation. Ideally, the analysis would examine HPV vaccination series completion, however, given the already small sample size, restricting to series completion would have reduced the sample further, making it too small to conduct a meaningful analysis. In an analysis of Planned Parenthood Centers, researchers found that only 29% of HPV vaccine initiations completed the series within 12 months.²⁸ While understanding HPV vaccine initiation is important, ideally analyses should examine vaccine series completion.

This study was strengthened by using the Andersen Behavioral Model as a guiding model.¹⁶ Following the model, the analysis included multiple risk factors that put individuals at higher risk for HPV acquisition, such as tobacco use, STI history and/or testing, and HIV status. Finally, the study was strengthened by performing a sex-stratified analysis, which allowed for the examination of distinct factors for males and females, separately.

Implications for Practice, Policy, and Research

From a practice perspective, FQHCs should consider focused vaccine efforts, targeting those less likely to initiate the vaccine series. Additionally, especially for FQHCs serving women, it may be beneficial to work with all provider types to ensure consistent messaging about the importance of HPV vaccination. HPV vaccine promotion from health

care providers is critical for those 18-26 years old who were not vaccinated as adolescents, because the vaccine is most effective prior to any exposure to HPV.²⁰ Finally, providers should consider the many healthcare transitions for individuals 18-26 years old. For example, individuals may be transitioning from pediatric medicine to adult/family medicine providers. If individuals are changing providers, it's important that newly assigned providers are discussing and offering HPV vaccination to patients. Additionally, as patients age out of pediatrics, they are likely making more independent health care decisions (apart from parents/guardians), which can influence choices around HPV vaccine initiation. Furthermore, patients may be concurrently experiencing a change in healthcare coverage, such as aging out of Medicaid coverage, or private (employer based) insurance provided by their parents/guardians (at 26 years old), which may influence vaccination decisions.

Results of this study have the potential to inform policy within health centers and among health care providers. For example, by understanding which patients are more or less likely to initiate the vaccine series, specific groups can be targeted for HPV vaccination. One potential broader policy consideration is mandating the HPV vaccine on a national level with stricter opt-out language.^{29,30}

Future research should focus on FQHCs and utilize mixed methods approaches to explore HPV vaccine initiation and series completion; qualitative research offers the opportunity to explore patient and provider perspectives to understand engagement around HPV vaccination. Importantly, future work must include HPV behavioral risk profiles. Analyses should include behaviors/need factors that put an individual at higher risk for HPV and related cancers, including, but not limited to: current tobacco use, immunocompromising diseases, STI testing, and STI diagnosis.^{14,17,20} Lastly, studies should include participants not

actively seeking healthcare to understand HPV vaccination patterns of those without a medical home.

Conclusion

Overall, HPV vaccine initiation rates among those aged 18-26 years who access primary health care through a FQHC from 2018-2019 were relatively low (20%). By conducting the analysis stratified by sex at birth, unique predisposing, enabling, and need factors for HPV vaccine initiation emerged. Among individuals assigned male sex at birth, those who were younger, had minority sexual orientation (predisposing factors) and had a positive HIV status (need factor) had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation. For individuals assigned female sex at birth, those who were non-white race (predisposing factor), had a NP/PA as a primary care provider, and more frequent healthcare utilization (enabling factors) had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation. Findings may be used to promote HPV vaccination during critical vaccination windows to reduce the HPV-related cancer burden in future years.

*Chapter 2 is being prepared for submission for publication of the material. The co-authors include: Heather L. Corliss, MPH, PhD, Donna Kritz-Silverstein, PhD, David R. Strong, PhD, Noe C. Crespo, MS, MPH, PhD, Sudha Nagalingam, MD Tracy L. Finlayson, PhD. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this material.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HPV-associated cancer statistics. Accessed January 24, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/hpv/statistics/
- 2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Human papillomavirus. Accessed January 17, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/stdfact-hpv.htm
- 3. National Cancer Institute. HPV and cancer. Accessed January 17, 2021. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/risk/infectious-agents/hpvand-cancer
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Human papillomavirus (HPV): HPV cancers are preventable. Updated November 1, 2021. Accessed August 6, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/hpv/hcp/protecting-patients.html
- 5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Human papillomavirus (HPV): Reasons to get vaccinated. Updated November 1, 2021. Accessed August 6, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/hpv/parents/vaccine/six-reasons.html
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Evidence to recommendations for HPV vaccination of adults, ages 27 through 45 years. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Updated August 16, 2019. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/recs/grade/hpv-adults-etr.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HPV vaccination recommendations. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/hpv/hcp/recommendations.html
- U.S. Food & Drug Administration. Human papillomavirus vaccine. Updated January 31, 2018. Accessed July 6, 2020. https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-bloodbiologics/human-papillomavirus-vaccine
- 9. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Increase the proportion of adolescents who get recommended doses of the HPV vaccine IID-08. Healthy People 2030. Accessed October 3, 2022. https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/vaccination/increase-proportion-adolescents-who-get-recommended-doses-hpv-vaccine-iid-08/data#tab=data-chart
- 10. Boersma P, Black LI. Human papillomavirus vaccination among adults aged 18-26, 2013-2018. *NCHS Data Brief.* 2020;(354):1-8.
- St. Laurent J, Luckett R, Feldman S. HPV vaccination and the effects on rates of HPVrelated cancers. *Curr Probl Cancer*. 2018;42(5):493-506. doi:10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2018.06.004
- 12. Brisson M, Bénard É, Drolet M, et al. Population-level impact, herd immunity, and elimination after human papillomavirus vaccination: a systematic review and meta-

analysis of predictions from transmission-dynamic models. *Lancet Public Heal*. 2016;1(1):e8-e17. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(16)30001-9

- Chesson HW, Meites E, Ekwueme DU, Saraiya M, Markowitz LE. Updated medical care cost estimates for HPV-associated cancers: implications for cost-effectiveness analyses of HPV vaccination in the United States. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2019;15(7-8):1942-1948. doi:10.1080/21645515.2019.1603562
- Lin Y-Y, Damgacioglu H, Suk R, et al. Trends in the incidence of human papillomavirus-associated cancers by county-level income and smoking prevalence in the United States, 2000-2018. *JNCI Cancer Spectr*. 2022;6(2):10-13. doi:10.1093/jncics/pkac004
- 15. Nath JB, Costigan S, Hsia RY. Changes in demographics of patients seen at federally qualified health centers, 2005-2014. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2016;176(5):712-714. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.0705
- 16. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? *J Health Soc Behav.* 1995;36(1):1-10. doi:10.2307/2137284
- Guo Y, Bowling J. Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination initiation and completion among adult males in the United States. *J Am Board Fam Med*. 2020;33(4):592-599. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2020.04.190464
- 18. El Rio Health. El Rio Health: about El Rio. Accessed January 23, 2022. www.elrio.org
- 19. Arizona Department of Health Services. Arizona state immunization information system. Accessed January 23, 2022. https://www.azdhs.gov/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/immunization/asiis/index.php
- 20. Meites E, Szilagyi PG, Chesson HW, Unger ER, Romero JR, Markowitz LE. Human papillomavirus vaccination for adults: updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *Am J Transplant*. 2019;19(11):3202-3206. doi:10.1111/ajt.15633
- Clarke MA, Coutinho F, Phelan-Emrick DF, Wilbur MA, Chou B, Joshu CE. Predictors of human papillomavirus vaccination in a large clinical population of males aged 11 to 26 years in Maryland, 2012-2013. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2016;25(2):351-358. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-15-0983
- 22. van Buuren S. Multiple imputation of discrete and continuous data by fully conditional specification. *Stat Methods Med Res*. 2007;16(3):219-242. doi:10.1177/0962280206074463
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Recommendations on the use of quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccine in males — Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2011. MMWR. 2011;60(50):1705-1708.

- 24. Williams WW, Lu PJ, Saraiya M, et al. Factors associated with human papillomavirus vaccination among young adult women in the United States. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(28):2937-2946. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.04.041
- 25. Sims A, Archie-Booker E, Waldrop RT, Claridy M, Gerbi G. Factors associated with human papillomavirus vaccination among women in the United States. *ARC J Public Heal Community Med.* 2018;3(1):6-12.
- 26. Rosenthal SL, Weiss TW, Zimet GD, Ma L, Good MB, Vichnin MD. Predictors of HPV vaccine uptake among women aged 19-26: importance of a physician's recommendation. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(5):890-895. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.12.063
- 27. Caskey R, Lindau ST, Alexander GC. Knowledge and early adoption of the HPV vaccine among girls and young women: results of a national survey. *J Adolesc Heal*. 2009;45(5):453-462. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.04.021
- 28. Simons HR, Unger ZD, Lopez PM, Kohn JE. Predictors of human papillomavirus vaccine completion among female and male vaccine initiators in family planning centers. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(12):2541-2548. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302834
- 29. Immunize.org. State information: HPV vaccine mandates for elementary and secondary schools. Updated July 19, 2021. Accessed August 2, 2022. https://www.immunize.org/laws/hpv.asp
- Perkins RB, Lin M, Wallington SF, Hanchate AD. Impact of school-entry and education mandates by states on HPV vaccination coverage: analysis of the 2009– 2013 National Immunization Survey-Teen. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2016;12(6):1615-1622. doi:10.1080/21645515.2016.1150394

CHAPTER 3: DENTAL AND MEDICAL PROVIDERS' ATTITUDES ABOUT DISCUSSING HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS-RELATED OROPHARYNGEAL CANCER WITH PATIENTS

Erin L. Dougherty, Tracy L. Finlayson, Heather L. Corliss, David R. Strong, Noe C. Crespo,

Donna Kritz-Silverstein

Abstract

Objectives: To assess how medical and dental providers at two Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs) perceive their role in patient engagement regarding Human Papillomavirus (HPV) and related oropharyngeal cancer (OPC).

Methods: Online surveys were collected during July-October 2021 from FQHC medical and dental providers to assess attitudes via 24 closed-ended questions, guided by the Theory of Planned Behavior, rated on a 5-point Likert scale. Descriptive statistics were generated to characterize the sample. Medical and dental providers were compared on HPV-related OPC responses with chi-square tests; linear regression analyses were used to perform comparisons controlling for age, gender identity, age of patients, and clinic location.

Results: Of 156 participants, 103 were medical and 53 were dental providers. When asked if HPV-related OPC discussions were the responsibility of the dental team, 55% of medical providers compared to 74% of dental providers agreed (X^2 =4.9, p=0.03). Furthermore, 44% of medical providers compared to 60% of dental providers agreed they were adequately trained to discuss HPV-related OPC with patients (X^2 =3.9, p=0.04); 26% of medical providers compared to 85% of dental providers indicated they were adequately trained to screen for signs of oral cancer (X^2 =48.5, p<0.01). Regression analysis indicated dental providers had higher levels of agreement related to perceived behavioral control (greater confidence/adequate training to engage patients) compared to medical providers (p<0.001).

Conclusion: Medical and dental providers share a sense of responsibility regarding HPVrelated OPC patient engagement; dental providers reported higher levels of confidence and training in addressing HPV-related OPC.

Introduction

Human Papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection (STI), with an estimated 42.5 million people living with HPV in the United States (US).¹ High risk strains of HPV have the potential to develop into cancer, including oropharyngeal cancer (OPC), which is the most common HPV-related cancer.² OPCs occur on the back third of the tongue, roof of the mouth, and the tonsils/throat, making it difficult to diagnose.^{3,4}

According to the National Cancer Institute, the five-year relative survival of OPC is 68%; an estimated 11,230 deaths are expected to occur in 2022.⁵ Although approximately 54,000 new cases of OPC will occur in the US in 2022, the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) does not recommend population-based screenings.^{5,6} Given the increasing prevalence of HPV-related OPC, limited detection tools, and lack of screening recommendations, it is important to understand how different health care providers view their role around HPV-related OPC patient engagement.

Currently, health care providers do not have clearly defined roles for raising HPVrelated OPC awareness and discussing risk and prevention with patients. Despite the lack of formal guidelines, the American Dental Association, American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry, and American Medical Association (pending review) all support patient engagement regarding HPV-related OPC awareness and prevention.⁷⁻⁹ While professional associations support HPV-related OPC patient engagement, providers may not be prepared to engage in these conversations. Research shows gaps in knowledge and screening abilities for OPCs and related patient engagement for medical providers^{10–12} and dentists and dental hygienists have reported hesitancy and a lack comfort and knowledge in discussing HPVrelated OPC with patients.^{13,14} As primary care medical and dental providers are often the

first professionals consulted when symptoms of HPV-related OPC present, low levels of awareness and understanding may be a potential barrier to early detection and survival.¹⁵

Given the increasing number of HPV-related OPC cases, limited research, and importance of the provider role, the Oral Cancer Foundation has highlighted areas for continued research. Specifically, they call for an improved understanding of medical and dental provider perceptions around HPV-related OPC and including dental hygienists, physician's assistants and nurses in prevention and care.¹⁶ Additionally, Walker, et al. (2019) called for more theory-driven research to evaluate HPV-related OPC perceptions among providers.¹⁴ To inform study design, health care leaders at two Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs) were consulted to assess feasibility and gauge interest in the topic. FQHCs were selected as study sites because they employ a variety of medical and dental providers. Discussions with the leaders indicated an interest in exploring the topic due to the rise in cases of HPV-related OPC and they shared their medical and dental providers are not regularly engaging patients in discussions around HPV-related OPC given the lack of screening guidelines.

The present study filled gaps in the literature by including many medical and dental providers, not just physicians and dentists, and used the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) to guide survey development and analyses. As the focus of this study was to assess provider intentions, the TPB was selected, which has been widely used in examining healthcare provider intentions regarding clinical practice.¹⁸ The TPB posits that ones' attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control shape intention and subsequent behavior (i.e. HPV-related OPC patient engagement).¹⁸ For this study, attitudes refer to how providers view their role regarding patient engagement around HPV and OPC. Subjective norms refer

to provider beliefs about approval/disapproval of engaging with patients in HPV and OPCrelated conversations by others of influence (i.e., professional organizations and colleagues). Perceived behavioral control refers to provider ability, confidence, and perceptions of the difficulty (or ease) of engaging patients in HPV and OPC discussions. Overall, the purpose of this study was to examine and compare how medical and dental care providers in FQHC settings perceived their role in discussing HPV and HPV-related OPC with their patients by exploring their attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control.

Methods

Setting & Participants

A convenience sample included medical and dental providers employed at one of two FQHCs. One located in Tucson, Arizona and the other in San Diego, California. Only medical and dental providers engaged in providing direct patient care (i.e., not in a solely administrative role) at either FQHC at the time of survey administration were eligible and invited to participate. Eligible medical providers included physicians (MD/DO), Registered Nurses (RN), Nurse Practitioners (NP), and Physician Assistants (PA). Eligible dental providers included dentists (DMD/DDS) and registered dental hygienists (RDH). Students training in any of the previously mentioned provider roles were excluded. A total of 575 providers were eligible and invited to participate, 156 completed and submitted the survey (103 medical providers and 53 dental providers for a response rate of 27%).

Data Collection

A cross-sectional survey was administered through the Qualtrics online platform between July-October 2021. Eligible participants were identified by each FQHC, and professional email addresses were shared with the study team. An email invitation from the study team with a link to the survey was sent three separate times throughout July and

August 2021. Due to an initial low response rate (13%) and reports that providers believed the email could have been malicious, brief presentations to describe the study were conducted at each FQHC via electronic video platforms. After the presentations, two additional emails were sent out inviting providers to participate, yielding a final response rate of 27% (N=156) at the end of data collection in October 2021. All study materials were approved by the San Diego State University Institutional Review Board (IRB), then were submitted to each FQHC. Both FQHC research committees reviewed the IRB-approved research materials and approved the study prior to survey administration.

Measures

The survey included 24 TPB-informed statements with responses on a 5-point Likert scale: strongly disagree, disagree, neither agree/disagree, agree, strongly agree. The initial survey development was informed by previous surveys^{19–28} and the TPB.¹⁸ The previous surveys did not report reliability or validity statistics, but several used adapted scales and reported their surveys had face validity.^{20,21,24,26} While existing surveys provided initial structure, the survey was reviewed and modified based on feedback from three medical leaders, two dental leaders, and two FQHC leaders. The final survey included eight questions (listed below), specific to HPV-related OPC, to capture distinct TPB constructs of attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control. Given the ordinal nature of the data, a polychoric correlation was conducted to assess the correlation between items within each construct.²⁹ Correlations were found to be acceptable within each construct with attitude items having a correlation of 0.82, subjective norm items ranging from 0.52-0.64, and perceived behavioral control items ranging from 0.48-0.75.

Attitudes

- It is my responsibility to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with my patients.
- 2. I am comfortable discussing HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with my patients.

Subjective Norms

- 1. Expert recommendations encourage me to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with my patients.
- 2. It is the responsibility of the dental team to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with patients.
- 3. It is the responsibility of the medical team to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with patients.

Perceived Behavioral Control

- 1. I am adequately trained to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with patients.
- 2. I am adequately trained to screen my patients for signs of oral cancer.
- 3. I am confident in my ability to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with my patients.

To conduct chi-square tests, response categories were collapsed as follows: 'strongly agree' and 'agree' were combined to indicate that a provider agreed with the statement; 'neither agree/disagree', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree' were combined to indicate that a provider did not agree with the statement.

For the linear regression, distinct scales were created for each TPB construct (attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control). Point values were assigned for each response option as follows: 1-strongly disagree; 2-disagree; 3-neither agree/disagree;

4-agree; 5-strongly agree. The scale for 'attitudes' included two items and ranged from 2-10 points. 'Subjective norms' and 'perceived behavioral control' each included three items and ranged from 3-15 points (included items are previously listed under 'Measures'). Higher scores indicated greater level of agreement.

Demographic data were obtained with questions on age (collected and analyzed in years, as a continuous variable), gender identity (collected as male, female, other, or prefer not to answer; analyzed as male vs. female/other/prefer not to answer), clinic (collected and analyzed as Health Center 1 vs. Health Center 2), provider type (Physician, Dentist, RN, NP, PA, RDH; analyzed as medical (physician, RN, NP, PA) vs. dental (dentist, RDH)), length of time in practice (collected as a continuous variable; analyzed as 'less than one year', '1-5 years', '6-10 years', and '10+ years'), and description of regular clinical practice (collected as 'I typically see pediatric patients 0-17 years'; 'I typically see adult patients 18-64 years'; or 'I typically see older adults/geriatric patients 65+ years'; analyzed as 'Pediatric Patients' vs. 'Adult Patients').

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted in SAS 9.4. Descriptive statistics were generated to characterize the sample and understand the distribution of variables. There were no missing data given that only complete surveys were allowed to be submitted; however, two survey respondents entered incorrect values for their age (zero years old and two years old) and based on the distribution of age, median imputation was used for these two values. HPV and OPC variables of interest were examined to determine any differences between medical and dental providers. Initially, chi-square tests compared responses of medical and dental providers on HPV-related OPC statements.

Linear regression analyses were conducted to examine the associations between provider type with HPV-related OPC attitudes and perceptions after adjustment for age, gender identity, age of patients seen in practice and clinic. Covariates were introduced into the model in a hierarchal manner to determine how each set of variables influenced the dependent variable(s) as follows: age and gender identity first, followed by age of patients served in practice and clinic and finally provider type (medical vs. dental). Length of time in practice and age were highly correlated, and age was selected as the covariate to include in the analysis.

Results

Demographic characteristics of participants are presented in Table 3.1.

Bivariate Associations Between Provider Type & Theoretical Constructs (Table 3.2)

There were three TPB items that showed statistically significant differences between medical and dental provider agreement. Specifically, dental providers were more likely than medical providers to agree on the subjective norm item that the dental team is responsible for discussing HPV-related OPC with patients (74% vs. 55%, respectively, p=0.03). Two perceived behavioral control items showed statistical significance. Regarding training to discuss HPV-related OPC with patients, over 60% of dental providers agreed they were adequately trained compared to 44% of medical providers (p=0.04). Finally, when asked if adequately trained to screen for signs of oral cancer, 85% of dental providers agreed compared to only 26% of medical providers (p<0.01). Neither of the attitude items were significantly different between medical and dental providers.

Demographic Characteristics	Medical Provider	rs (n=103)	Dental Providers (n=53)	
	Mean (SD)	Range	Mean (SD)	Range
Age (in years)	46.2 (11.1)	26-71	45.6 (9.8)	31-67
	n (%)		n (*	%)
Length of Time in Practice				
Less than one year	4 (4)		0 (0)
1-5 years	23 (22)		10 (19)
6-10 years	21 (20)		13 (1	24)
More than 10 years	55 (54)		30 (57)
Gender Identity				
Male	18 (17)		21 (*	40)
Female	81 (79)		31 (58)
Other	2 (2)		0 (0)
Prefer Not to Say	2 (2)		1 (2)
Federally Qualified Health Center				
Health Center 1	71 (69)		24 (*	45)
Health Center 2	32 (31)		29 (55)
Provider Type				
Physician (MD/DO)	54 (53)		N/.	A
Physician Assistant (PA)	3 (3)		N/.	A
Nurse Practitioner (NP)	25 (24)		N/.	A
Registered Nurse (RN)	21 (20		N/.	A
Dentist (DMD/DDS)	N/A		37 (70)
Registered Dental Hygienist (RDH)	N/A		16 (30)
Age of Patients Seen in Practice				
Pediatric (0-17 years)	20 (19)		17 (32)
Adults (18-64 years)	68 (66)		35 (66)
Older Adults (65+ years)	15 (15)		1 (2)

 Table 3.1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants by Provider Type

Notes: Medical Providers include physicians, physician assistants, nurse practitioners, and registered nurses; Dental Providers include dentists and registered dental hygienists. SD = Standard Deviation; n = sample size; % = percent. Age of Patients Seen in Practice defined as who the provider typically sees in their regular practice.

Survey Statement by Theoretical Construct	Providers in A State	greement with ement	
Attitudes	Medical n (%)	Dental n (%)	p-value
It is my responsibility to discuss HPV-related OPC with my patients	79 (77)	41 (77)	0.93
I am comfortable discussing HPV-related OPC with my patients	68 (66)	39 (74)	0.33
Subjective Norms			
Expert recommendations encourage me to discuss HPV- related OPC with my patients	65 (63)	36 (68)	0.55
It is the responsibility of the dental team to discuss HPV-related OPC with patients	57 (55)	39 (74)	0.03*
It is the responsibility of the medical team to discuss HPV-related OPC with patients	83 (81)	43 (81)	0.93
Perceived Behavioral Control			
I am adequately trained to discuss HPV-related OPC with my patients	45 (44)	32 (60)	0.04*
I am adequately trained to screen my patients for signs of oral cancer	27 (26)	45 (85)	< 0.01*
I am confident in my ability to discuss HPV-related OPC with my patients	59 (57)	33 (62)	0.55

Table 3.2. Bivariate Associations Between Medical and Dental Providers within each Theoretical Construct

Notes: HPV= Human Papillomavirus; OPC = oropharyngeal cancer; All listed theoretical constructs are part of the Theory of Planned Behavior; * significance at alpha level 0.05

Linear Regression Results within Theoretical Constructs (Table 3.3)

After adjusting for demographic covariates, dental providers had perceived behavioral control agreement scores that were on average about 1.8 points higher than medical providers (p<0.001). There were no significant associations of provider type with attitude and subjective norm constructs after adjusting for covariates.

Models	Independent Variables	Depend	dent Variables (Theoretical Constructs)		
		Attitudes	Subjective Norms	Perceived Behavioral Control	
1	Age	-0.003	-0.020	-0.011	
	Gender Identity	0.178	-0.085	0.136	
	Adjusted R ²	-0.011	-0.003	-0.011	
2	Age	-0.001	-0.020	-0.007	
	Gender Identity	0.231	-0.003	0.100	
	Age of Patients	0.834	0.532	1.103	
	Clinic	-0.389	-0.436	-0.091	
	Adjusted R ²	0.008	-0.002	-0.009	
3	Age	-0.001	-0.020	-0.003	
	Gender Identity	0.160	-0.086	-0.314	
	Age of Patients	0.744	0.427	0.584	
	Clinic	-0.445	-0.0503	-0.418	
	Provider Type	0.317	0.374	1.835*	
	Adjusted R^2	0.008	-0.004	0.080	

Table 3.3. Hierarchal Linear Regression Model within each Theoretical Construct

Notes: All listed theoretical constructs are part of the Theory of Planned Behavior; * significance at alpha level 0.05

Discussion

Results of this study suggest there is a similar high sense of responsibility among medical and dental care providers to engage their patients in discussions around HPV-related OPC even though there are no USPSTF guidelines for screening.⁶ While over three-fourths of both medical and dental providers indicated a responsibility for HPV-related OPC patient engagement, fewer medical than dental providers felt adequately trained (44% vs. 60%, respectively) or confident in their ability to discuss HPV-related OPC with patients (57% vs. 62%, respectively). These results point to the importance of increased training to build provider confidence in discussions of HPV-related OPC.

Interestingly, within the construct of subjective norms, medical and dental providers agreed that it is the responsibility of the medical team to discuss HPV-related OPC with patients (81% for both), but they disagreed that it is the responsibility of the dental team (medical:55%; dental:74%; p-value<0.03). Medical providers reported it is their responsibility, however, many were not adequately trained or confident in their ability to have this discussion. When analyzing the theoretical constructs through linear regression, findings were only significant within perceived behavioral control, indicating higher levels of confidence and adequate training among dental providers.

While medical and dental providers reported varying levels of adequate training and confidence, most providers (medical: 85%; dental: 83%) are interested in continuing education opportunities regarding HPV. Given their interest in learning more about HPV and the increasing prevalence of HPV-related OPC it is important that continuing education is offered to all health care providers. This high level of interest in continuing education provides an opportunity for intervention to increase HPV-related OPC confidence and training.

Study findings agree with previous studies in that both medical and dental providers believe they have a role in HPV-related OPC and patient engagement/care.^{14,15} However, there remains a need to understand the distinct roles of each provider type and develop targeted opportunities for continuing education.³⁰ In accord with previous studies, more dental providers than medical providers agreed they were adequately trained to screen for oral cancer.¹¹ According to Patton (2006) dental providers would benefit from continuing education focused on OPC prevention, while medical providers would benefit from more training around oral examination skills.¹¹ Recent literature describes that providers continue

to report a need for continuing education and low levels of HPV-related OPC knowledge.^{11–13} While this study did not focus on HPV-related OPC knowledge, results suggest a need for continuing education to improve confidence and ability regarding patient engagement.

Findings should be interpreted while considering the study limitations. The TPB was used to guide survey development and subsequent analyses, but it was not used to explain the behavioral outcome. Rather, the constructs of 'attitude', 'subjective norm', and 'perceived behavioral control' were analyzed to understand how different provider types may intend to engage in HPV-related OPC discussions with patients. The sample size was relatively small, which may have resulted in low power and a type 2 error. Two recent systematic reviews, one focused on knowledge gaps of HPV-related OPC among health care providers and patients and the other focused on dental providers' perceptions around HPV and HPV-related OPC patient engagement both noted the paucity of literature devoted to HPV-related OPC.^{14,15} Thus, this study's findings contribute to the limited literature and provide direction and a foundation for future research. Although the two FQHCs engaged in this study are among the largest in the US, findings have limited generalizability because all participants were FQHC employees and located in a similar geographic area.

This study included medical and dental providers outside of physicians and dentists, however, providers were collapsed into medical or dental groups. The sample size did not allow for an analysis with the rigor and specificity intended at the onset of the study. All analyses were conducted with only physicians and dentists and then compared to analyses with all respondents divided between medical and dental groups. Given the results did not change when including all providers, the final analysis included all those who completed the survey.

Unfortunately, there is not a validated scale to assess HPV-related OPC provider perceptions. As discovered when reviewing the existing literature, many studies, including this one, relied on adapting existing scales and utilizing medical and dental providers to review and provide feedback to establish face validity. While important, surveys must not rely too heavily on face validity. Future work in this area should include rigorous scale development with a focus on intentions and direct behavior assessment among diverse provider groups.

This study was originally conceptualized and designed for in-person data collection. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, it was necessary to shift data collection to an online platform. Furthermore, the survey was originally circulated around the same time as a malware attack at one FQHC. The information technology team at the affected FQHC shared the concerns from providers. The research team responded immediately with an email to participants confirming the link was not malicious; however, the concern over the malware attack may have discouraged providers from participating in the survey. Follow-up emails regarding the study were sent from internal email accounts within each health center to avoid further security concerns.

Overall, providers have a high sense of responsibility regarding HPV-related OPC patient engagement, however there are varying levels of confidence and feelings of adequate training between medical and dental providers. There is a need and interest in continuing education opportunities focused on HPV and related OPC among medical and dental providers. In a setting such as a FQHC, collaboration between medical and dental teams should be encouraged to promote HPV-related OPC patient engagement.

*Chapter 3 is being prepared for submission for publication of the material. The co-authors include: Heather L. Corliss, MPH, PhD, Donna Kritz-Silverstein, PhD, David R. Strong, PhD, Noe C. Crespo, MS, MPH, PhD, and Tracy L. Finlayson, PhD. The dissertation author was the primary investigator and author of this material.

References

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Sexually transmitted infections prevalence, incidence, and cost estimates in the United States. Updated January 25, 2021. Accessed June 23, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/std/statistics/prevalence-2020-ata-glance.htm
- 2. NIH: National Cancer Institute. HPV and cancer. Updated September 12, 2022. Accessed June 24, 2022. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causesprevention/risk/infectious-agents/hpv-and-cancer
- 3. American Cancer Society. What are oral cavity and oropharyngeal cancers? Accessed May 12, 2019. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/oral-cavity-and-oropharyngealcancer/about/what-is-oral-cavity-cancer.html
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Head and neck cancers. Accessed May 12, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/headneck/index.htm
- 5. National Cancer Institute. Cancer stat facts: oral cavity and pharynx cancer. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Accessed April 13, 2019. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/oralcav.html
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Oral cancer: screening. Accessed February 25, 2018. https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ UpdateSummaryFinal/oral-cancer-screening1
- 7. American Dental Association. Cancer (head and neck). Updated September 30, 2022. Accessed October 3, 2022. https://www.ada.org/resources/research/science-and-research-institute/oral-health-topics/cancer-head-and-neck
- 8. American Medical Association House of Delegates. Addressing gaps in patient and provider knowledge to increase HPV vaccine uptake and prevent HPV-associated oropharyngeal cancer. Accessed June 24, 2022. https://www.ama-assn.org/system/files/n21-408.pdf
- 9. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Policy on human papilloma virus vaccinations. In: *The Reference Manual of Pediatric Dentistry*. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry; 2021:106-107. https://www.aapd.org/media/Policies_Guidelines/P_HPV_Vaccinations.pdf
- Canto MT, Horowitz AM, Drury TF, Goodman HS. Maryland family physicians' knowledge, opinions and practices about oral cancer. *Oral Oncol.* 2002;38(5):416-424. doi:10.1016/S1368-8375(01)00080-X
- 11. Patton LL, Ashe TE, Elter JR, Southerland JH, Strauss RP. Adequacy of training in oral cancer prevention and screening as self-assessed by physicians, nurse practitioners, and dental health professionals. *Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology*. 2006;102(6):758-764. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.10.072

- 12. Mehta V, Holmes S, Master A, Leblanc B, Caldito LG, Bocchini JJ. Knowledge of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer and use of human papillomavirus vaccines by pediatricians in Louisiana. *J La State Med Soc.* 2017;169(2):37-42.
- 13. Kline N, Vamos C, Thompson E, et al. Are dental providers the next line of HPVrelated prevention? Providers' perceived role and needs. *Papillomavirus Res*. 2018;5:104-108. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2018.03.002
- Walker KK, Jackson RD, Sommariva S, Neelamegam M, Desch J. USA dental health providers' role in HPV vaccine communication and HPV-OPC protection: a systematic review. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2019;15(7-8):1863-1869. doi:10.1080/21645515.2018.1558690
- 15. Parsel SM, Barton BM, Beatty S, Friedlander PL. Knowledge gaps among patients and providers in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2020;162(5):612-621. doi:10.1177/0194599820908596
- 16. The Oral Cancer Foundation. Early detection, diagnosis and staging. Accessed August 6, 2022. https://oralcancerfoundation.org/cdc/early-detection-diagnosis-staging/
- 17. Godin G, Bélanger-Gravel A, Eccles M, Grimshaw J. Healthcare professionals' intentions and behaviours: a systematic review of studies based on social cognitive theories. *Implement Sci.* 2008;3(1):1-12. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-3-36
- 18. Ajzen I. Theory of planned behavior. *Organ Behav Hum Decis Process*. 1991;50:179-211.
- 19. Warner EL, Ding Q, Pappas L, et al. Health care providers' knowledge of HPV vaccination, barriers, and strategies in a state with low HPV vaccine receipt: mixed-methods study. *JMIR Cancer*. 2017;3(2):e12. doi:10.2196/cancer.7345
- 20. Daley EM, Thompson EL, Vamos CA, et al. HPV-related knowledge among dentists and dental hygienists. *J Cancer Educ*. 2018;33(4):901-906. doi:10.1007/s13187-016-1156-5
- 21. Stull CL, Lunos S. Knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding human papilloma virus communication and vaccine advocacy among Minnesota dentists and dental hygienists. *J Dent Hyg JDH*. 2019;93(1):33-42.
- 22. Yellowitz J, Horowitz AM, Goodman HS, Canto MT, Farooq NS. Knowledge, opinions and practices of general dentists regarding oral cancer: a pilot survey. *J Am Dent Assoc*. 1998;129(5):579-583. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.1998.0275
- 23. Yellowitz JA, Goodman HS. Assessing physicians' and dentists' oral cancer knowledge, opinions and practices. *J Am Dent Assoc*. 1995;126(1):53-60. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.1995.0024

- 24. Jboor DH, Al-Darwish MS, Nur U. Oral cancer knowledge, attitude, and practice of dentists in the state of Qatar. *Dent J.* 2019;7(2):1-17. doi:10.3390/dj7020043
- 25. Horowitz AM, Drury TF, Goodman HS, Yellowitz JA. Oral pharyngeal cancer prevention and early detection: dentists' opinions and practices. *J Am Dent Assoc*. 2000;131(4):453-462. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.2000.0201
- 26. Lechner M, Vassie C, Kavasogullari C, et al. A cross-sectional survey of awareness of human papillomavirus-associated oropharyngeal cancers among general practitioners in the UK. *BMJ Open*. 2018;8(7):1-6. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023339
- Sohn W, Ismail AI, Kolker JL. Knowledge of oral cancer and screening practices of primary care providers at federally qualified health centers. *J Public Health Dent*. 2005;65(3):160-165. doi:10.1111/j.1752-7325.2005.tb02806.x
- 28. Stormo AR, de Moura L, Saraiya M. Cervical cancer-related knowledge, attitudes, and practices of health professionals working in Brazil's network of primary care units. *Oncologist*. 2014;19(4):375-382. doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2013-0318
- 29. Ekström J. A Generalized Definition of the Polychoric Correlation Coefficient. UCLA: Department of Statistics, UCLA; 2011.
- 30. Daley E, DeBate R, Dodd V, et al. Exploring awareness, attitudes, and perceived role among oral health providers regarding HPV-related oral cancers. *J Public Health Dent*. 2011;71(2):136-142. doi:10.1111/j.1752-7325.2011.00212.x

DISCUSSION

Oropharyngeal cancer is the most common HPV-related cancer and it has been estimated that 54,000 cases will occur in the US in 2022.¹ Although scientific advancements have improved diagnostic capabilities, gaps remain in understanding awareness, prevention efforts, and healthcare provider/patient engagement.^{2–5} This dissertation focused on addressing these gaps. First, HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge and awareness were examined among sexual minority populations using a national dataset. Second, factors associated with HPV vaccine initiation rates were studied among 18–26-year-olds who utilized a Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC) as their medical home. Finally, medical and dental provider attitudes and perceptions regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement were compared at two large FQHCs. While each was a distinct study, all contributed to the advancement of the HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer research field with a unique call to action.

HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Cancer Awareness

Chapter 1 findings showed that HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer awareness and knowledge were relatively low, regardless of sexual orientation. Overall, only 19% of respondents knew of the connection between HPV and oropharyngeal cancer. There was no significant difference in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge based on sexual orientation for men or women.

In general, Chapter 1 findings, specific to HPV were consistent with what has been reported in previous literature.^{6–8} Previous HINTS analyses showed that sexual minority respondents were less likely than their heterosexual counterparts to seek health information from a medical provider.⁹ In this study, HPV awareness was associated with having a regular medical provider and sexual minority women were significantly less likely to report having a

regular medical provider, compared to their heterosexual counterparts. Therefore, it is possible that sexual minority women, who can face comparable (or higher) HPV risk compared to heterosexual women^{10–13}, are not receiving important information about HPV.

Understanding risk is an important part of health care decision making.¹⁴ Overall, over half of HINTS respondents were aware of HPV, but far fewer knew about the connection between HPV and oropharyngeal cancer. Knowing that HPV can develop into oral cancers could influence prevention and health behaviors, therefore it is essential that the public health field prioritize tailored campaigns targeting populations at high risk for HPV acquisition and related disease.

HPV Prevention

HPV vaccination is critical to prevent the acquisition and spread of HPV. Chapter 2 findings highlighted opportunities for targeted HPV vaccine campaigns for patients who utilize a FQHC for regular medical care. HPV vaccine initiation rates were low for both those with male and female sex at birth (approximately 20%), however, different factors were associated with HPV vaccine initiation based on sex at birth. For individuals assigned male sex at birth, those who were younger, identified as a sexual minority (gay, bisexual, or something else) and had a diagnosis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) had higher odds of HPV vaccine series initiation. In comparison, for individuals assigned female sex at birth, those with non-White race, having a nurse practitioner/physician assistant (as a primary care provider, PCP) and more frequent health care utilization had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation.

Among those assigned male sex at birth, findings were in line with Advisory Committee of Immunization Practices HPV vaccine recommendations for men who have sex with men and those living with HIV and experience a higher burden of HPV-related

disease.¹⁵ Of note, a novel contribution in Chapter 2 was the inclusion of sexually transmitted infection (STI) testing and history (need factors). Although STI findings overall, were not statistically significant (at alpha level<0.05), it was of borderline significance for those assigned male sex at birth (OR: 1.32; 94% CI:0.98-1.78) and there was likely null bias error. For those assigned female sex at birth, the association was much weaker. This difference between males and females underscored the importance of conducting a sex stratified analysis. Further analyses should include larger sample sizes to explore the association more adequately between STI testing and history and HPV vaccine series initiation and completion.

Among those assigned female sex at birth, more frequent healthcare utilization (enabling factor) was associated with higher odds of vaccination, as noted in other studies.^{16,17} In contradiction to previous research,¹⁸ this study found that those with non-White race (predisposing factor) had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation compared to those with White race. However, this study had a smaller sample size which required that the race was collapsed into a dichotomous variable of non-White compared to White. Study findings regarding race may be a result of combining several races into a 'non-White' category.

Provider type (enabling factor) was also significant for individuals assigned female sex at birth. Those with a Certified Nurse Midwife assigned as a PCP had lower odds of HPV vaccine initiation (compared to physician PCP) while those with a Nurse Practitioner/Physician Assistant assigned as PCP had higher odds of HPV vaccine initiation (compared to physician PCP). As provider recommendation is associated with HPV

vaccination,^{19,20} this was an important finding for a FQHC that employs a variety of healthcare providers.

It is imperative that providers deliver consistent messaging to patients regarding HPV vaccination. Future work must focus on ensuring that providers are adequately trained to discuss the HPV vaccine with patients, and that opportunities for continuing education are provided when necessary. Furthermore, FQHCs may consider targeted campaigns to increase HPV vaccination with special focus on those at a heightened risk for HPV acquisition based on behavioral risk profiles and/or those less likely to initiate the vaccine series.

HPV-related Oropharyngeal Cancer Patient/Provider Engagement

Chapter 3 findings suggested that medical and dental providers share a high sense of responsibility regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement. Although there are no recommendations or screening guidelines for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer,²¹ over 75% of medical and dental providers indicated feeling they have a responsibility to discuss HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer with their patients. However, only 44% of medical and 60% of dental providers felt adequately trained and only 57% of medical and 60% of dental providers felt adequately trained and only 57% of medical and 62% of dental providers felt confident in their ability to engage patients in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer discussions. When analyzed within the constructs of the Theory of Planned Behavior, only perceived behavioral control was significant. Hierarchal linear regression findings indicated that dental providers had higher levels of confidence and adequate training regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer compared to medical providers.

While adequate training and confidence were somewhat low, over 80% of providers were interested in HPV related continuing education opportunities. It is encouraging to find
that both medical and dental providers believe they have a role in patient engagement. However, the lack of training and confidence necessary to address HPV related oropharyngeal cancer with their patients may impede engagement. The high level of interest in continuing education is an opportunity for intervention by providing continuing education focused on improving provider training and confidence.

Chapter 3 findings were in accord with previous literature which found that medical and dental providers believe they have a role in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer and patient engagement/care.^{22,23} Literature also describes the reported need for continuing education.^{24–26} While future research is needed to better understand how different types of providers perceive their role in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement, there is overwhelming evidence that continuing education opportunities are necessary and desired by providers in the immediate future.

Strengths/Limitations

This dissertation utilized three distinct data sources to better understand HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge, prevention, and provider/patient engagement. Chapter 1 analyzed data from a national health survey, Chapter 2 utilized electronic health record data, and Chapter 3 relied on primary data collection with medical and dental providers. Each data source and analysis presented a unique set of strengths and limitations that should be considered while examining the findings from this dissertation.

Chapter 1 utilized the Health Information National Trends (HINTS) 5, Cycles 1-3 data collected between 2017-2019. All analyses conducted with HINTS were cross sectional and therefore causal inferences cannot be established. While HINTS 5 (cycles 1-3) was large and nationally representative, the sample size of sexual minority individuals was small and further minimized when stratified by sex. Given that only 5% of respondents included in the

analysis identified as sexual minorities, there was low power to detect differences in HPVrelated oral cancer knowledge based on sexual orientation. Another limitation, specific to the sexual minority populations in the analyses, was the combination of all sexual minorities into one analytic group; sample size constraints did not allow for the subpopulations of sexual minorities to be examined. While necessary, given the sample sizes, these combinations limited the ability of the analyses to accurately describe the knowledge and awareness of HPV-related oral cancers within diverse subgroups. Finally, Chapter 1 analyses only included the variables collected during each HINTS cycle 1-3. As previously described in the Introduction, number of sexual partners is an important risk factor to consider for oral HPV and subsequent cancer, however this information was not collected in HINTS 5, Cycles 1-3 and was not included in the analysis. The study was strengthened by the combination of three waves of data and findings are generalizable in the United States, given the national sample.

Chapter 2 utilized electronic health record (EHR) data from El Rio Health, a large Federally Qualified Health Center in Tucson, Arizona. Data were limited to pre-determined fields in the EHR, therefore extracted data relied entirely on the information entered by healthcare professionals and did not reflect patient perspectives. However, the accuracy of the EHR vaccination data was likely improved through the use of the Arizona State Immunization Information System (ASIIS).²⁷ Although not possible to prove without an in depth chart reviews, EHR data are likely more accurately reporting vaccination status with the imported ASIIS data.

Ideally, vaccine series completion would have been explored, as series completion is necessary for the highest level of protection and remains low;²⁸ however, the sample size was

too small to conduct meaningful analysis examining series completion. Given the sample size of this sex-stratified analysis there was potential null bias error especially among men for race, ethnicity, health insurance, and history of sexually transmitted infection (STI) testing. Although power was reduced, the sex-stratified analysis allowed for the identification of distinct factors associated with vaccine initiation for men and women, separately.

Chapter 2 was strengthened by utilizing the Andersen Behavioral Model. Following this model allowed for covariates to be classified as predisposing, enabling, and need factors.²⁹ Specifically, this allowed for the classification of multiple risk factors (tobacco use, STI history/testing, HIV status) that increase risk for HPV acquisition and should be included in HPV vaccination analyses.³⁰

Chapter 3 relied on primary data collection via convenience sampling at two Federally Qualified Health Centers located in the southwestern United States. The fact that all providers who participated were employed at one of the participating Federally Qualified Health Centers located in a similar geographic area, limited the generalizability of the results. The Theory of Planned Behavior was used to guide survey development and analysis but was not used to explain the outcome of interest (HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement); rather, the constructs within the theory were examined to understand how medical and dental providers intend to engage with patients regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer. Additionally, the sample size was small leading to low power when running a comparison analysis between medical and dental providers and may have resulted in type II error.

The survey used was developed by the dissertation author as a validated scale does not exist to examine medical and dental provider perceptions around HPV-related

oropharyngeal cancer. The lack of a validated scale is a limitation, however, survey findings and lessons learned during development provide a foundation and direction for future research. This study included medical and dental providers beyond physicians and dentists. Nurses, physician assistants, and registered dental hygienists were also surveyed. The intention was to examine how distinct providers viewed their role in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement, however, the sample size did not support these analyses.

Chapter 3 was strengthened by including medical and dental provider input during survey development and by using theory to guide survey development and subsequent analyses. Additionally, Chapter 3 examined comparisons between medical and dental providers, while most existing literature focuses on either medical providers or dental providers independent of one another.

It is important to note that this dissertation was extensively overhauled due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Chapter 2 was originally an IRB approved qualitative study focused on understanding how individuals living with Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome perceive their risk of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer and with which types of providers they would feel comfortable discussing the disease and risk factors. Ideally, this would have provided patient perspectives before surveying medical and dental providers. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the study was suspended, and a new study was developed to meet doctoral requirements. Chapter 3 was originally designed for in person data collection but was transitioned to an electronic platform due to the COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions around group gatherings.

Future Directions

It is imperative that public health professionals address the rising rate of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer through multi-level approaches. Based on behavioral risk profiles, there may be an increased risk of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer for sexual minority men and women. Future analyses must be adequately powered to detect differences in HPVrelated oropharyngeal cancer awareness between sexual minority populations and their heterosexual counterparts. Additionally, future work should aim to examine sexual minority sub-populations independently because the risk profiles and experiences differ (e.g., bisexual women have different experiences and risks for HPV compared to lesbian women). Furthermore, it would be beneficial to include more behavioral risk factors in future analyses, specifically number of oral sex partners and alcohol use, both of which are associated with the development of oropharyngeal cancer. While future research is necessary and important to advance our understanding, taking action to raise awareness of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer is critical. Regardless of sexual orientation, knowledge on a national level hovers below 20% and as the most common HPV-related cancer, it is imperative the public is made more aware of this cancer and its etiology through novel educational campaigns.

Regarding the study of HPV vaccination, future work should build upon dissertation findings, but expanded to include all eligible age groups and vaccine series completion. Given that adequate levels of vaccination have the potential to eliminate HPV-related cancers, it is important to understand vaccination patterns and gaps in vaccine coverage for all eligible populations. Furthermore, patient attitudes and perceptions around vaccination should be explored in concert with health record data to explain vaccination patterns and acceptability more fully. Tailored HPV vaccine campaigns should be developed, targeting men and women separately, to increase HPV vaccination.

The pilot work around provider attitudes and perceptions lays the groundwork for future investigations and highlights health care providers' desire for continuing education opportunities around HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer. Continuing education opportunities should be prioritized and provided to medical and dental providers. Further research should focus on creating a validated scale to assess provider attitudes around HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer. Additionally, building upon findings, research should be expanded to include providers in more diverse geographic areas throughout the United States.

Conclusions

With most of the population unaware of the connection between HPV and oropharyngeal cancer, lack of screening guidelines, low HPV vaccination rates, and increasing number of cases, the health care field must work to improve knowledge, prevention, and early detection. While further research is warranted, it is equally important that action is taken to increase HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer knowledge through targeted, tailored campaigns, promote HPV vaccination among men and women while considering behavioral risk profiles, and provide continuing education opportunities to medical and dental providers to increase confidence regarding HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patient engagement.

References

- 1. National Cancer Institute. Cancer stat facts: oral cavity and pharynx cancer. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program. Accessed April 13, 2019. https://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/oralcav.html
- 2. Wang Z, Li F, Rufo J, et al. Acoustofluidic salivary exosome isolation: a liquid biopsy compatible approach for human papillomavirus–associated oropharyngeal cancer detection. *J Mol Diag*. 2020;22(1):50-59. doi:10.1016/j.jmoldx.2019.08.004
- Das N, Hussain E, Mahanta LB. Automated classification of cells into multiple classes in epithelial tissue of oral squamous cell carcinoma using transfer learning and convolutional neural network. *Neural Netw.* 2020;128:47-60. doi:10.1016/j.neunet.2020.05.003
- 4. Osazuwa-Peters N, Graboyes EM, Khariwala SS. Expanding indications for the human papillomavirus vaccine: one small step for the prevention of head and neck cancer, but one giant leap remains. *JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2020;146(12)1099-1101. doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2020.4068
- 5. Rosenthal M, Huang B, Katabi N, et al. Detection of HPV related oropharyngeal cancer in oral rinse specimens. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(65):109393-109401. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.22682
- Osazuwa-Peters N, Adjei Boakye E, Mohammed KA, Tobo BB, Geneus CJ, Schootman M. Not just a woman's business! Understanding men and women's knowledge of HPV, the HPV vaccine, and HPV-associated cancers. *Prev Med*. 2017;99:299-304. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.03.014
- 7. McBride KR, Singh S. Predictors of adults' knowledge and awareness of HPV, HPVassociated cancers, and the HPV vaccine: implications for health education. *Health Educ Behav.* 2018;45(1):68-76. doi:10.1177/1090198117709318
- Adjei Boakye E, Tobo BB, Rojek RP, Mohammed KA, Geneus CJ, Osazuwa-Peters N. Approaching a decade since HPV vaccine licensure: racial and gender disparities in knowledge and awareness of HPV and HPV vaccine. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2017;13(11):2713-2722. doi:10.1080/21645515.2017.1363133
- 9. Langston ME, Fuzzell L, Lewis-Thames MW, Khan S, Moore JX. Disparities in health information-seeking behaviors and fatalistic views of cancer by sexual orientation identity: a nationally representative study of adults in the United States. *LGBT Health*. 2019;6(4):192-201. doi:10.1089/lgbt.2018.0112
- Saunders CL, Meads C, Abel GA, Lyratzopoulos G. Associations between sexual orientation and overall and site-specific diagnosis of cancer: evidence from two national patient surveys in England. *J Clin Oncol.* 2017;35(32):3654-3661. doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.72.5465

- Cab-Sánchez BG, Hernández-Solís SE, Rueda-Gordillo F, Conde-Ferráez L, Gómez-Carballo JG, González-Losa MDR. Epidemiology of oral HPV infection in young healthy individuals. *Rev Chilena Infectología*. 2017;34(6):557-562. doi:10.4067/S0716-10182017000600557
- 12. Wierzbicka M, Klussmann JP, San Giorgi MR, Wuerdemann N, Dikkers FG. Oral and laryngeal HPV infection: incidence, prevalence and risk factors, with special regard to concurrent infection in head, neck and genitals. *Vaccine*. 2021;39(17):2344-2350. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.047
- 13. D'Souza G, Kluz N, Wentz A, et al. Oral human papillomavirus (HPV) infection among unvaccinated high-risk young adults. *Cancers*. 2014;6(3):1691-1704. doi:10.3390/cancers6031691
- Klasko-Foster LB, Przybyla S, Orom H, Gage-Bouchard E, Kiviniemi MT. The influence of affect on HPV vaccine decision making in an HPV vaccine naïve college student population. *Prev Med Reports*. 2020;20:101195. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101195
- 15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Recommendations on the use of quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccine in males — Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2011. *MMWR*. 2011;60(50):1705-1708.
- Clarke MA, Coutinho F, Phelan-Emrick DF, Wilbur MA, Chou B, Joshu CE. Predictors of human papillomavirus vaccination in a large clinical population of males aged 11 to 26 years in Maryland, 2012-2013. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2016;25(2):351-358. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-15-0983
- Williams WW, Lu PJ, Saraiya M, et al. Factors associated with human papillomavirus vaccination among young adult women in the United States. *Vaccine*. 2013;31(28):2937-2946. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.04.041
- 18. Sims A, Archie-Booker E, Waldrop RT, Claridy M, Gerbi G. Factors associated with human papillomavirus vaccination among women in the United States. *ARC J Public Heal Community Med.* 2018;3(1):6-12.
- 19. Rosenthal SL, Weiss TW, Zimet GD, Ma L, Good MB, Vichnin MD. Predictors of HPV vaccine uptake among women aged 19-26: importance of a physician's recommendation. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(5):890-895. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.12.063
- 20. Caskey R, Lindau ST, Alexander GC. Knowledge and early adoption of the HPV vaccine among girls and young women: results of a national survey. *J Adolesc Heal*. 2009;45(5):453-462. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.04.021
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Oral cancer: screening. Accessed February 25, 2018. https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ UpdateSummaryFinal/oral-cancer-screening1

- 22. Walker KK, Jackson RD, Sommariva S, Neelamegam M, Desch J. USA dental health providers' role in HPV vaccine communication and HPV-OPC protection: a systematic review. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. 2019; 15(7-8):1863-1869. doi:10.1080/21645515.2018.1558690
- 23. Parsel SM, Barton BM, Beatty S, Friedlander PL. Knowledge gaps among patients and providers in HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* 2020;162(5):612-621. doi:10.1177/0194599820908596
- 24. Patton LL, Ashe TE, Elter JR, Southerland JH, Strauss RP. Adequacy of training in oral cancer prevention and screening as self-assessed by physicians, nurse practitioners, and dental health professionals. *Oral Surgery, Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endodontology*. 2006;102(6):758-764. doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2005.10.072
- 25. Mehta V, Holmes S, Master A, Leblanc B, Caldito LG, Bocchini JJ. Knowledge of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer and use of human papillomavirus vaccines by pediatricians in Louisiana. *J La State Med Soc.* 2017;169(2):37-42.
- 26. Kline N, Vamos C, Thompson E, et al. Are dental providers the next line of HPVrelated prevention? Providers' perceived role and needs. *Papillomavirus Res.* 2018;5:104-108. doi:10.1016/j.pvr.2018.03.002
- 27. Arizona Department of Health Services. Arizona state immunization information system. Accessed January 23, 2022. https://www.azdhs.gov/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/immunization/asiis/index.php
- 28. Simons HR, Unger ZD, Lopez PM, Kohn JE. Predictors of human papillomavirus vaccine completion among female and male vaccine initiators in family planning centers. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(12):2541-2548. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302834
- 29. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? *J Health Soc Behav.* 1995;36(1):1-10. doi:10.2307/2137284
- 30. Guo Y, Bowling J. Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination initiation and completion among adult males in the United States. *J Am Board Fam Med*. 2020;33(4):592-599. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2020.04.190464